
 
 

 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
Advanced Meeting Package 

 
 Regular Meeting 

 
Monday 

 January 22, 2024 
 

11:00 a.m. 
 

Location: 
Hilton Garden Inn 

55 Town Center Blvd., 
Palm Coast, FL 32164 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

Note:  The Advanced Meeting Package is a working document and thus all materials 
are considered DRAFTS prior to presentation and Board acceptance, approval, or 
adoption. 



Seminole Palms  
Community Development District 
 

  

250 International Parkway, Suite 208 
Lake Mary, FL 32746 
321-263-0132  

 
Board of Supervisors  
Seminole Palms Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 
 
The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Seminole Palms Community Development 
District is scheduled for Monday, January 22, 2024, at 11:00 a.m. at Hilton Garden Inn, 55 Town 
Center Blvd., Palm Coast, FL 32164. 

  
An advanced copy of the agenda for the meeting is attached along with associated documentation 
for your review and consideration. Any additional support material will be presented at the meeting. 

 
Should you have any questions regarding the agenda, please contact me at (321) 263-0132 X-193 or 
dmcinnes@vestapropertyservices.com. We look forward to seeing you at the meeting. 

 
Sincerely, 

 
David McInnes 
David McInnes 
District Manager 

 
 
 

mailto:dmcinnes@dpfgmc.com


Page 1 of 2 
 

 Community Development District 
Meeting Date: Monday, January 22, 2024 Call-in Number: +1 (929) 205-6099 
Time: 11:00 AM Meeting ID: 705 571 4830# 
Location: Hilton Garden Inn 

55 Town Center Blvd., 
Palm Coast, FL 32164 

  

 

Revised Agenda 

I. Roll Call  
II. Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for 

agenda items)   
 

III. Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) Exhibit 1 
IV. Officer Appointment  

A. Acceptance of Resignation – Seat #1  
B. Oath of Office Exhibit 2 
C. New Supervisor Information Sheet Exhibit 3 
D. Form 1 – To Be Completed & Filed Online - Link  
E. Review Sunshine Law & Code of Ethics Exhibit 4 
F. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2024-02, Re-

Designating Officers 
Exhibit 5 

V. Consent Agenda  
A. Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of 

Supervisors Specia Meeting Held on November 15, 2023 
Exhibit 6 

B. Consideration for Acceptance – The October 2023 Unaudited 
Financial Statements 

Exhibit 7 

C. Consideration for Acceptance – The November 2023 Unaudited 
Financial Statements 

Exhibit 8 

D. Consideration for Acceptance – The December 2023 Unaudited 
Financial Statements 

Exhibit 9 

E. Ratification of RS&H, Inc. CEI Services Agreement Exhibit 10 
F. Ratification of Joint Maintenance Agreement Exhibit 11 
G. Ratification of Citation Blvd. Project  

1. DPO – Fortiline  Exhibit 12 
2. DPO – American Precast Exhibit 13 
3. DPO – County Materials Exhibit 14 

https://disclosure.floridaethics.gov/Account/Login


Page 2 of 2 
 

V. Consent Agenda – continued   
H. Ratification of Phase 1 Project  

1. DPO – Fortiline Exhibit 15 
2. DPO – American Precast Exhibit 16 
3. DPO – County Materials Exhibit 17 
4. CO #1 – American Precast Exhibit 18 
5. CO #1 – County Materials Exhibit 19 

VI. Business Matters  
A. Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2024-03, Designating 

Signatories 
Exhibit 20  

VII. Staff Reports  
A. District Counsel  
B. District Engineer  
C. District Manager  

VIII. Supervisors’ Requests  
IX. Audience Comments – New Business - (limited to 3 minutes per 

individual for non-agenda items) 
 

X. Adjournment  

 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 1 



FIRST INSERTION
SEMINOLE PALMS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT
NOTICE OF BOARD OF SUPERVISORS REGULAR MEETING  

Notice is hereby given that a regular meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Seminole 
Palms Community Development District (the “District”) will be held on Monday, Janu-
ary 22, 2024, at 11:00 a.m. at the Hilton Garden Inn, 55 Town Center Blvd., Palm Coast, 
FL 32164.  The purpose of the meeting is to discuss any topics presented to the board for 

consideration.
Copies of the agenda may be obtained from the District Manager, Vesta District Services, 
250 International Parkway, Suite 208, Lake Mary, Florida 32746, Telephone (321) 263-

0132, Ext. 193.  
The meeting is open to the public and will be conducted in accordance with the provisions 
of Florida law for community development districts.  The meeting may be continued in 
progress without additional notice to a date, time, and place to be specified on the record 
at the meeting.  There may be occasions when Staff and/or Supervisors may participate by 

speaker telephone.
Pursuant to provisions of the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 
accommodations to participate in the meeting is asked to advise the District Manager’s of-
fice at least forty-eight (48) hours before the meeting by contacting the District Manager at 
(321) 263-0132, Ext. 193.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the Florida 

Relay Service at 711, for assistance in contacting the District Manager’s office. 
A person who decides to appeal any decision made at the meeting, with respect to any mat-
ter considered at the meeting, is advised that a record of the proceedings is needed and that 
accordingly, the person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 

made, including the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based.

Seminole Palms Community Development District
David McInnes, District Manager
(321) 263-0132, Ext. 193

January 11, 2023                                    23-00341F



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 2 



SEMINOLE PALMS 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OATH OF OFFICE 

I,____________________________, A CITIZEN OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA AND OF 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND BEING EMPLOYED BY OR AN OFFICER OF 
SEMINOLE PALMS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT AND A 
RECIPIENT OF PUBLIC FUNDS AS SUCH EMPLOYEE OR OFFICER, DO 
HEREBY SOLEMNLY SWEAR OR AFFIRM THAT I WILL SUPPORT THE 
CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA. 

_______________________________________ 
Board Supervisor  

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF OATH BEING TAKEN 

STATE OF FLORIDA 
COUNTY OF _______________ 

The foregoing oath was administered before me this ___ day of 
_______________, 2024, by _________________________________, who personally appeared 
before me, and is personally known to me or has produced _________________________ as 
identification, and is the person described in and who took the aforementioned oath as a 
Member of the Board of Supervisors of _________________________ Community 
Development District and acknowledged to and before me that he/she took said oath for the 
purposes therein expressed. 

(NOTARY SEAL) 
_________________________________________ 
Notary Public, State of Florida 

Print Name: _______________________________ 

Commission No.: ___________ Expires: ________ 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 3 



Seminole Palms 
A Community Development District 

 
 
 

NEW SUPERVISOR INFORMATION SHEET 
Please return completed forms to  

Vesta District Services 
Records Management 

250 International Parkway, Suite 208 
Lake Mary, FL 32746 

Phone:  321-263-0132, EXT-193 
District Manager: David McInnes 

 
 
1) Name: ___________________________________________________ 
 
 
2) Address: __________________________________________________ 
 
____________________________________________________________ 
 
____________________________________________________________ 
 
 
3) County of Residence ________________________________________ 
 
 
4) Phone or Cell ______________________________________________ 
 
 
5) Email Address _____________________________________________ 
 
 
6) Waive OR Accept Compensation of Statutorily Allowed $200 per Meeting 
_____________________________.  If you have elected to receive compensation 
then please forward the attached payroll forms along with the New Supervisor 
Information Sheet. 
 
 
Payroll Information 
 
1) Date of Birth: _________________________ 
2) Drivers License Number: _____________________________________ 
 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 4 



FLORIDA COMMISSION ON 

ETHICS 

 

 

 
GUIDE  

to the 

SUNSHINE AMENDMENT 

and 

CODE of ETHICS 

for Public Officers and Employees 

 
_____________________________2023 



State of Florida 

COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

John Grant, Chair  
Tampa 

 
Glenton “Glen” Gilzean, Jr., Vice Chair  

Orlando 
 

Michelle Anchors 
Fort Walton Beach 

 
William P. Cervone 

Gainesville 
 

Don Gaetz 
Niceville 

 
William N. “Willie” Meggs 

Tallahassee 
   

Ed H. Moore 
Talllahassee 

 
Wengay M. Newton, Sr. 

St. Petersburg 
 

Jim Waldman 
Fort Lauderdale 

 
 

Kerrie Stillman 
Executive Director 
P.O. Drawer 15709 

Tallahassee, FL 32317‐5709 
www.ethics.state.fl.us 

(850) 488‐7864* 
 
 
 
 

*Please direct all requests for information to this number. 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

I. HISTORY OF FLORIDA’S ETHICS LAWS .......................................................................................... 1 

II. ROLE OF THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS ...................................................................................... 2 

III. THE ETHICS LAWS ....................................................................................................................... 2 

    A. PROHIBITED ACTIONS OR CONDUCT .................................................................................. 3 

      1. Solicitation or Acceptance of Gifts .................................................................................. 3 

      2. Unauthorized Compensation .......................................................................................... 4 

      3. Misuse of Public Position ................................................................................................ 4 

      4. Abuse of Public Position .................................................................................................. 4 

      5. Disclosure or Use of Certain Information........................................................................ 5 

      6. Solicitation or Acceptance of Honoraria ......................................................................... 5 

    B. PROHIBITED EMPLOYMENT AND BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS ............................................. 6 

      1. Doing Business With One’s Agency ................................................................................. 6 

      2. Conflicting Employment or Contractual Relationship ..................................................... 6 

      3. Exemptions ...................................................................................................................... 6 

      4. Additional Exemption ...................................................................................................... 8 

      5. Lobbying State Agencies by Legislators........................................................................... 8 

      6. Additional Lobbying Restrictions for Certain Public Officers and Employees ................ 8 

      7. Employees Holding Office ............................................................................................... 9 

      8. Professional & Occupational Licensing Board Members ................................................ 9 

      9. Contractual Services: Prohibited Employment ............................................................... 9 

      10. Local Government Attorneys ........................................................................................ 9 

      11. Dual Public Employment ............................................................................................... 9 

    C. RESTRICTIONS ON APPOINTING, EMPLOYING, AND CONTRACTING  

      WITH RELATIVES ................................................................................................................ 10 

      1. Anti‐Nepotism Law ........................................................................................................ 10 

      2. Additional Restrictions .................................................................................................. 10 

    D. POST OFFICEHOLDING & EMPLOYMENT (REVOLVING DOOR) RESTRICTIONS ................. 11 

      1. Lobbying By Former Legislators, Statewide Elected Officers, 

           and Appointed State Officers ....................................................................................... 11 

      2. Lobbying By Former State Employees ........................................................................... 11 

      3. 6‐Year Lobbying Ban  ..................................................................................................... 12 

      4. Additional Restrictions on Former State Employees .................................................... 13 

      5. Lobbying By Former Local Government Officers and Employees ................................. 13 



    E.  VOTING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST ..................................................................................... 14 

    F.  DISCLOSURES .................................................................................................................... 15 

      1. Form 1 ‐ Limited Financial Disclosure ........................................................................... 15 

      2. Form 1F ‐ Final Form 1................................................................................................... 19 

      3. Form 2 ‐ Quarterly Client Disclosure ............................................................................. 19 

      4. Form 6 ‐ Full and Public Disclosure ............................................................................... 20 

      5. Form 6F ‐ Final Form 6................................................................................................... 21 

      6. Form 9 ‐ Quarterly Gift Disclosure ................................................................................ 22 

      7. Form 10 ‐ Annual Disclosure of Gifts from Governmental Entities and  

          Direct Support Organizations and Honorarium Event‐Related Expenses ..................... 22 

      8. Form 30 ‐ Donor’s Quarterly Gift Disclosure ................................................................. 23 

      9. Forms 1X and 6X – Amendments .................................................................................. 24 

IV. AVAILABILITY OF FORMS ......................................................................................................... 24 

V. PENALTIES ................................................................................................................................. 25 

    A. For Violations of the Code of Ethics .................................................................................. 25 

    B. For Violations by Candidates ............................................................................................. 25 

    C. For Violations by Former Officers and Employees ............................................................ 25 

    D. For Lobbyists and Others ................................................................................................... 26 

    E. Felony Convictions: Forfeiture of Retirement Benefits ..................................................... 26 

    F. Automatic Penalties for Failure to File Annual Disclosure ................................................. 27 

VI. ADVISORY OPINIONS ............................................................................................................... 27 

    A. Who Can Request an Opinion ............................................................................................ 27 

    B. How to Request an Opinion ............................................................................................... 27 

    C. How to Obtain Published Opinions .................................................................................... 27 

VII.  COMPLAINTS .......................................................................................................................... 28 

    A. Citizen Involvement ........................................................................................................... 28 

    B. Referrals ............................................................................................................................. 28 

    C. Confidentiality .................................................................................................................... 28 

    D. How the Complaint Process Works ................................................................................... 29 

    E. Dismissal of Complaint at Any Stage of Disposition .......................................................... 30 

    F. Statute of Limitations ......................................................................................................... 30 

VIII. EXECUTIVE BRANCH LOBBYING ............................................................................................. 30 

IX. WHISTLE‐BLOWER’S ACT ......................................................................................................... 31 

X. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ..................................................................................................... 32 

XI.TRAINING .................................................................................................................................. 32 



1 
 

I. HISTORY OF FLORIDA’S ETHICS LAWS 

 

  Florida has been a leader among the states in establishing ethics standards for public officials 

and recognizing the right of citizens to protect the public trust against abuse. Our state Constitution 

was revised in 1968 to require a code of ethics, prescribed by law, for all state employees and non‐

judicial officers prohibiting conflict between public duty and private interests. 

 

  Florida’s  first  successful  constitutional  initiative  resulted  in  the  adoption  of  the  Sunshine 

Amendment in 1976, providing additional constitutional guarantees concerning ethics in government. 

In  the  area  of  enforcement,  the  Sunshine  Amendment  requires  that  there  be  an  independent 

commission (the Commission on Ethics) to investigate complaints concerning breaches of public trust 

by public officers and employees other than judges. 

 

  The Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees is found in Chapter 112 (Part III) of the 

Florida Statutes. Foremost among the goals of the Code is to promote the public interest and maintain 

the  respect of  the people  for  their  government.  The Code  is  also  intended  to  ensure  that public 

officials conduct  themselves  independently and  impartially, not using  their offices  for private gain 

other than compensation provided by law. While seeking to protect the integrity of government, the 

Code also seeks to avoid the creation of unnecessary barriers to public service. 

 

  Criminal penalties, which initially applied to violations of the Code, were eliminated in 1974 

in favor of administrative enforcement. The Legislature created the Commission on Ethics that year 

“to serve as guardian of  the standards of conduct”  for public officials, state and  local. Five of  the 

Commission’s nine members are appointed by  the Governor, and  two each are appointed by  the 

President of the Senate and Speaker of the House of Representatives. No more than five Commission 

members may be members of the same political party, and none may be lobbyists, or hold any public 

employment during their two‐year terms of office. A chair  is selected from among the members to 

serve a one‐year term and may not succeed himself or herself.  

 

  In  2018,  Florida’s  Constitutional  Revision  Commission  proposed,  and  the  voters  adopted, 

changes to Article II, Section 8. The earliest of the changes will take effect December 31, 2020, and 

will prohibit officials from abusing their position to obtain a disproportionate benefit for themselves 



2 
 

or their spouse, child, or employer, or for a business with which the official contracts or is an officer, 

partner, director, sole proprietor, or  in which the official owns an  interest. Other changes made to 

the  Constitution  place  restrictions  on  lobbying  by  certain  officeholders  and  employees,  and  put 

additional  limits on  lobbying by  former public officers and employees. These changes will become 

effective December 31, 2022. 

 

II. ROLE OF THE COMMISSION ON ETHICS 

 

  In addition to its constitutional duties regarding the investigation of complaints, the 

Commission: 

 

• Renders advisory opinions to public officials; 

• Prescribes forms for public disclosure; 

• Prepares mailing lists of public officials subject to financial disclosure for use by 

Supervisors of Elections and the Commission in distributing forms and notifying 

delinquent filers; 

• Makes recommendations to disciplinary officials when appropriate for violations of 

ethics and disclosure laws, since it does not impose penalties; 

• Administers the Executive Branch Lobbyist Registration and Reporting Law; 

• Maintains financial disclosure filings of constitutional officers and state officers and 

employees; and, 

• Administers automatic fines for public officers and employees who fail to timely file 

required annual financial disclosure. 

 

III. THE ETHICS LAWS 

 

  The ethics laws generally consist of two types of provisions, those prohibiting certain actions 

or  conduct  and  those  requiring  that  certain  disclosures  be  made  to  the  public.  The  following 

descriptions of these laws have been simplified in an effort to provide notice of their requirements. 

Therefore, we suggest that you also review the wording of the actual law. Citations to the appropriate 

laws are in brackets.  



3 
 

  The  laws summarized below apply generally to all public officers and employees, state and 

local,  including members of advisory bodies. The principal exception  to  this broad coverage  is  the 

exclusion of judges, as they fall within the jurisdiction of the Judicial Qualifications Commission. 

 

  Public Service Commission  (PSC) members and employees, as well as members of  the PSC 

Nominating Council, are subject to additional ethics standards that are enforced by the Commission 

on Ethics under Chapter 350, Florida Statutes. Further, members of the governing boards of charter 

schools are subject to some of the provisions of the Code of Ethics [Sec. 1002.33(26), Fla. Stat.], as 

are the officers, directors, chief executive officers and some employees of business entities that serve 

as the chief administrative or executive officer or employee of a political subdivision. [Sec. 112.3136, 

Fla. Stat.]. 

 

A.  PROHIBITED ACTIONS OR CONDUCT 

 

1.  Solicitation and Acceptance of Gifts 

 

  Public officers, employees, local government attorneys, and candidates are prohibited from 

soliciting or accepting anything of value, such as a gift, loan, reward, promise of future employment, 

favor, or service, that is based on an understanding that their vote, official action, or judgment would 

be influenced by such gift. [Sec. 112.313(2), Fla. Stat.] 

 

  Persons required to file financial disclosure FORM 1 or FORM 6 (see Part III F of this brochure), 

and state procurement employees, are prohibited from soliciting any gift from a political committee, 

lobbyist who has lobbied the official or his or her agency within the past 12 months, or the partner, 

firm, employer, or principal of  such a  lobbyist or  from a vendor doing business with  the official’s 

agency. [Sec. 112.3148, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  Persons required to file FORM 1 or FORM 6, and state procurement employees are prohibited 

from directly or indirectly accepting a gift worth more than $100 from such a lobbyist, from a partner, 

firm, employer, or principal of the lobbyist, or from a political committee or vendor doing business 

with their agency. [Sec.112.3148, Fla. Stat.] 

 



4 
 

  However, notwithstanding Sec. 112.3148, Fla. Stat., no Executive Branch lobbyist or principal 

shall make, directly or indirectly, and no Executive Branch agency official who files FORM 1 or FORM 

6 shall knowingly accept, directly or  indirectly, any expenditure made for the purpose of  lobbying.  

[Sec. 112.3215, Fla. Stat.] Typically, this would  include gifts valued at  less than $100 that formerly 

were permitted under Section 112.3148, Fla. Stat.  Similar rules apply to members and employees of 

the Legislature. However, these laws are not administered by the Commission on Ethics. [Sec. 11.045, 

Fla. Stat.] 

 

  Also,  persons  required  to  file  Form  1  or  Form  6,  and  state  procurement  employees  and 

members  of  their  immediate  families,  are  prohibited  from  accepting  any  gift  from  a  political 

committee. [Sec. 112.31485, Fla. Stat.] 

 

2.  Unauthorized Compensation 

 

  Public  officers  or  employees,  local  government  attorneys,  and  their  spouses  and  minor 

children  are prohibited  from  accepting  any  compensation, payment, or  thing of  value when  they 

know, or with the exercise of reasonable care should know, that it is given to influence a vote or other 

official action. [Sec. 112.313(4), Fla. Stat.] 

 

3.  Misuse of Public Position 

 

  Public officers and employees, and local government attorneys are prohibited from corruptly 

using or attempting to use their official positions or the resources thereof to obtain a special privilege 

or benefit for themselves or others. [Sec. 112.313(6), Fla. Stat.] 

 

4.  Abuse of Public Position 

 

  Public officers and employees are prohibited from abusing their public positions in order to 

obtain a disproportionate benefit  for  themselves or certain others.  [Article  II, Section 8(h), Florida 

Constitution.]  

 

 



5 
 

5.  Disclosure or Use of Certain Information 

 

  Public officers and employees and local government attorneys are prohibited from disclosing 

or using information not available to the public and obtained by reason of their public position, for 

the personal benefit of themselves or others. [Sec. 112.313(8), Fla. Stat.] 

 

6.  Solicitation or Acceptance of Honoraria 

 

  Persons required to file financial disclosure FORM 1 or FORM 6 (see Part III F of this brochure), 

and state procurement employees, are prohibited  from soliciting honoraria related  to  their public 

offices or duties. [Sec. 112.3149, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  Persons required to file FORM 1 or FORM 6, and state procurement employees, are prohibited 

from knowingly accepting an honorarium from a political committee,  lobbyist who has  lobbied the 

person’s agency within  the past 12 months, or  the partner,  firm, employer, or principal of  such a 

lobbyist, or from a vendor doing business with the official’s agency. However, they may accept the 

payment of expenses related to an honorarium event from such individuals or entities, provided that 

the expenses are disclosed. See Part III F of this brochure. [Sec. 112.3149, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  Lobbyists and their partners, firms, employers, and principals, as well as political committees 

and vendors, are prohibited from giving an honorarium to persons required to file FORM 1 or FORM 

6 and to state procurement employees. Violations of this law may result in fines of up to $5,000 and 

prohibitions against lobbying for up to two years. [Sec. 112.3149, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  However, notwithstanding Sec. 112.3149, Fla. Stat., no Executive Branch or legislative lobbyist 

or principal shall make, directly or indirectly, and no Executive Branch agency official who files FORM 

1 or FORM 6 shall knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any expenditure made for the purpose of 

lobbying.  [Sec.  112.3215,  Fla.  Stat.]  This  may  include  honorarium  event  related  expenses  that 

formerly  were  permitted  under  Sec.  112.3149,  Fla.  Stat.  Similar  rules  apply  to  members  and 

employees of the Legislature. However, these laws are not administered by the Commission on Ethics. 

[Sec. 11.045, Fla. Stat.] 

 



6 
 

B.  PROHIBITED EMPLOYMENT AND BUSINESS RELATIONSHIPS 

 

1.  Doing Business With One’s Agency 

   

  (a)  A public employee acting as a purchasing agent, or public officer acting in an official 

capacity, is prohibited from purchasing, renting, or leasing any realty, goods, or services for his or her 

agency from a business entity  in which the officer or employee or his or her spouse or child owns 

more than a 5% interest. [Sec. 112.313(3), Fla. Stat.] 

 

  (b)  A  public  officer  or  employee,  acting  in  a  private  capacity,  also  is  prohibited  from 

renting,  leasing, or selling any  realty, goods, or services  to his or her own agency  if  the officer or 

employee  is  a  state  officer  or  employee,  or,  if  he  or  she  is  an  officer  or  employee  of  a  political 

subdivision, to that subdivision or any of its agencies. [Sec. 112.313(3), Fla. Stat.] 

 

2.  Conflicting Employment or Contractual Relationship 

 

  (a)  A public officer or employee is prohibited from holding any employment or contract 

with any business entity or agency regulated by or doing business with his or her public agency. [Sec. 

112.313(7), Fla. Stat.] 

 

  (b)  A public officer or employee also is prohibited from holding any employment or having 

a contractual relationship which will pose a frequently recurring conflict between the official’s private 

interests and public duties or which will impede the full and faithful discharge of the official’s public 

duties. [Sec. 112.313(7), Fla. Stat.]   

 

  (c)  Limited exceptions to this prohibition have been created in the law for legislative bodies, 

certain special tax districts, drainage districts, and persons whose professions or occupations qualify 

them to hold their public positions. [Sec. 112.313(7)(a) and (b), Fla. Stat.] 

 

3.  Exemptions—Pursuant to Sec. 112.313(12), Fla. Stat., the prohibitions against doing business 

with one’s agency and having conflicting employment may not apply: 

 



7 
 

  (a)  When the business is rotated among all qualified suppliers in a city or county. 

 

  (b)  When the business is awarded by sealed, competitive bidding and neither the official 

nor his or her spouse or child have attempted to persuade agency personnel to enter the contract. 

NOTE: Disclosure of the interest of the official, spouse, or child and the nature of the business must 

be filed prior to or at the time of submission of the bid on Commission FORM 3A with the Commission 

on Ethics or Supervisor of Elections, depending on whether the official serves at  the state or  local 

level. 

 

  (c)  When the purchase or sale is for legal advertising, utilities service, or for passage on 

a common carrier. 

 

  (d)  When an emergency purchase must be made to protect the public health, safety, or 

welfare. 

 

  (e)  When the business entity is the only source of supply within the political subdivision 

and there is full disclosure of the official’s interest to the governing body on Commission FORM 4A. 

 

  (f)  When the aggregate of any such transactions does not exceed $500 in a calendar year. 

 

  (g)  When  the business  transacted  is  the deposit of agency  funds  in a bank of which a 

county, city, or district official is an officer, director, or stockholder, so long as agency records show 

that the governing body has determined that the member did not favor his or her bank over other 

qualified banks. 

 

  (h)  When the prohibitions are waived in the case of ADVISORY BOARD MEMBERS by the 

appointing person or by a two‐thirds vote of  the appointing body  (after disclosure on Commission 

FORM 4A). 

 

  (i)  When the public officer or employee purchases in a private capacity goods or services, 

at  a  price  and  upon  terms  available  to  similarly  situated members  of  the  general  public,  from  a 

business entity which is doing business with his or her agency. 



8 
 

  (j)  When the public officer or employee in a private capacity purchases goods or services 

from a business entity which  is subject  to  the regulation of his or her agency where  the price and 

terms of  the  transaction are available  to similarly situated members of  the general public and  the 

officer or employee makes full disclosure of the relationship to the agency head or governing body 

prior to the transaction. 

 

4.  Additional Exemptions 

 

  No  elected  public  officer  is  in  violation  of  the  conflicting  employment  prohibition  when 

employed by a tax exempt organization contracting with his or her agency so long as the officer is not 

directly or indirectly compensated as a result of the contract, does not participate in any way in the 

decision to enter into the contract, abstains from voting on any matter involving the employer, and 

makes certain disclosures. [Sec. 112.313(15), Fla. Stat.] 

 

5.  Legislators Lobbying State Agencies 

 

  A member of  the  Legislature  is prohibited  from  representing another person or entity  for 

compensation during his or her term of office before any state agency other than judicial tribunals. 

[Art. II, Sec. 8(e), Fla. Const., and Sec. 112.313(9), Fla. Stat.] 

 

6.  Additional Lobbying Restrictions for Certain Public Officers and Employees 

 

  A statewide elected officer; a member of  the  legislature; a county commissioner; a county 

officer pursuant to Article VIII or county charter; a school board member; a superintendent of schools; 

an elected municipal officer; an elected special district officer  in a special district with ad valorem 

taxing authority; or a person serving as a secretary, an executive director, or other agency head of a 

department of the executive branch of state government shall not lobby for compensation on issues 

of policy, appropriations, or procurement before the federal government, the  legislature, any state 

government body or agency, or any political subdivision of this state, during his or her term of office. 

[Art. II Sec 8(f)(2), Fla. Const. and Sec. 112.3121, Fla. Stat.] 

 

 



9 
 

7.  Employees Holding Office 

 

  A public employee is prohibited from being a member of the governing body which serves as 

his or her employer. [Sec. 112.313(10), Fla. Stat.] 

 

8.  Professional and Occupational Licensing Board Members 

 

  An  officer,  director,  or  administrator  of  a  state,  county,  or  regional  professional  or 

occupational organization or association, while holding such position, may not serve as a member of 

a state examining or licensing board for the profession or occupation. [Sec. 112.313(11), Fla. Stat.] 

 

9.  Contractual Services: Prohibited Employment 

 

  A state employee of the executive or judicial branch who participates in the decision‐making 

process involving a purchase request, who influences the content of any specification or procurement 

standard, or who renders advice, investigation, or auditing, regarding his or her agency’s contract for 

services,  is prohibited  from being employed with a person holding such a contract with his or her 

agency. [Sec. 112.3185(2), Fla. Stat.]  

 

10.  Local Government Attorneys 

 

  Local government attorneys, such as the city attorney or county attorney, and their law firms 

are prohibited from representing private individuals and entities before the unit of local government 

which they serve.  A local government attorney cannot recommend or otherwise refer to his or her 

firm  legal work  involving  the  local  government  unit  unless  the  attorney’s  contract  authorizes  or 

mandates the use of that firm. [Sec. 112.313(16), Fla. Stat.] 

 

11.  Dual Public Employment 

 

  Candidates  and  elected  officers  are  prohibited  from  accepting  public  employment  if  they 

know or should know  it  is being offered  for  the purpose of  influence. Further, public employment 

may  not  be  accepted  unless  the  position  was  already  in  existence  or  was  created  without  the 



10 
 

anticipation of the official’s interest, was publicly advertised, and the officer had to meet the same 

qualifications and go through the same hiring process as other applicants.  For elected public officers 

already  holding  public  employment,  no  promotion  given  for  the  purpose  of  influence  may  be 

accepted,  nor  may  promotions  that  are  inconsistent  with  those  given  other  similarly  situated 

employees. [Sec. 112.3125, Fla. Stat.] 

 

C.  RESTRICTIONS ON APPOINTING, EMPLOYING, AND CONTRACTING WITH RELATIVES 

 

1.  Anti‐Nepotism Law 

 

  A  public  official  is  prohibited  from  seeking  for  a  relative  any  appointment,  employment, 

promotion, or advancement  in  the agency  in which he or  she  is  serving or over which  the official 

exercises jurisdiction or control. No person may be appointed, employed, promoted, or advanced in 

or  to a position  in an agency  if such action has been advocated by a  related public official who  is 

serving in or exercising jurisdiction or control over the agency; this includes relatives of members of 

collegial  government bodies. NOTE:  This prohibition does not  apply  to  school districts  (except  as 

provided in Sec. 1012.23, Fla. Stat.), community colleges and state universities, or to appointments 

of boards, other than those with  land‐planning or zoning responsibilities,  in municipalities of fewer 

than 35,000 residents. Also, the approval of budgets does not constitute “jurisdiction or control” for 

the purposes of  this prohibition.   This provision does not apply  to  volunteer emergency medical, 

firefighting, or police service providers. [Sec. 112.3135, Fla. Stat.] 

 

2.  Additional Restrictions 

 

  A state employee of the executive or judicial branch or the PSC is prohibited from directly or 

indirectly  procuring  contractual  services  for  his  or  her  agency  from  a  business  entity  of which  a 

relative is an officer, partner, director, or proprietor, or in which the employee, or his or her spouse, 

or children own more than a 5% interest. [Sec. 112.3185(6), Fla. Stat.] 

 

 

 

 



11 
 

D.  POST OFFICE HOLDING AND EMPLOYMENT (REVOLVING DOOR) RESTRICTIONS 

 

1.  Lobbying by Former Legislators, Statewide Elected Officers, and Appointed State Officers 

 

  A member of the Legislature or a statewide elected or appointed state official is prohibited 

for  two  years  following  vacation  of  office  from  representing  another  person  or  entity  for 

compensation  before  the  government  body  or  agency  of which  the  individual was  an  officer  or 

member. Former members of  the Legislature are also prohibited  for  two years  from  lobbying  the 

executive branch. [Art. II, Sec. 8(e), Fla. Const. and Sec. 112.313(9), Fla. Stat.] 

 

2.  Lobbying by Former State Employees 

 

  Certain  employees  of  the  executive  and  legislative  branches  of  state  government  are 

prohibited from personally representing another person or entity for compensation before the  

agency with which they were employed for a period of two years after leaving their positions, unless 

employed  by  another  agency  of  state  government.  [Sec.  112.313(9),  Fla.  Stat.]  These  employees 

include the following: 

 

  (a)  Executive and legislative branch employees serving in the Senior Management Service 

and Selected Exempt Service, as well as any person employed by the Department of the Lottery having 

authority over policy or procurement.  

 

  (b)  Persons  serving  in  the  following  position  classifications:  the  Auditor  General;  the 

director  of  the Office  of  Program  Policy  Analysis  and  Government  Accountability  (OPPAGA);  the 

Sergeant  at  Arms  and  Secretary  of  the  Senate;  the  Sergeant  at  Arms  and  Clerk  of  the House  of 

Representatives; the executive director and deputy executive director of the Commission on Ethics; 

an  executive  director,  staff  director,  or  deputy  staff  director  of  each  joint  committee,  standing 

committee, or select committee of  the Legislature; an executive director,  staff director, executive 

assistant, legislative analyst, or attorney serving in the Office of the President of the Senate, the Office 

of the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the Senate Majority Party Office, the Senate Minority 

Party Office, the House Majority Party Office, or the House Minority Party Office; the Chancellor and 

Vice‐Chancellors of  the State University System;  the general counsel  to  the Board of Regents;  the 



12 
 

president, vice presidents, and deans of each state university; any person hired on a contractual basis 

and  having  the  power normally  conferred  upon  such  persons,  by whatever  title;  and  any person 

having the power normally conferred upon the above positions.  

 

  This prohibition does not apply to a person who was employed by the Legislature or other 

agency prior to July 1, 1989; who was a defined employee of the State University System or the Public 

Service  Commission who  held  such  employment  on December  31,  1994;  or who  reached  normal 

retirement age and retired by July 1, 1991.  It does apply to OPS employees. 

 

  PENALTIES:  Persons found in violation of this section are subject to the penalties contained 

in the Code (see PENALTIES, Part V) as well as a civil penalty in an amount equal to the compensation 

which the person received for the prohibited conduct. [Sec. 112.313(9)(a)5, Fla. Stat.]  

 

3.  6‐Year Lobbying Ban 

 

  For a period of six years after vacation of public position occurring on or after December 31, 

2022, a statewide elected officer or member of the legislature shall not lobby for compensation on 

issues of policy, appropriations, or procurement before the legislature or any state government body 

or agency. [Art. II Sec 8(f)(3)a., Fla. Const. and Sec. 112.3121, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  For a period of six years after vacation of public position occurring on or after December 31, 

2022, a person serving as a secretary, an executive director, or other agency head of a department of 

the  executive  branch  of  state  government  shall  not  lobby  for  compensation  on  issues  of  policy, 

appropriations,  or  procurement  before  the  legislature,  the  governor,  the  executive  office  of  the 

governor, members of the cabinet, a department that is headed by a member of the cabinet, or his 

or her former department. [Art. II Sec 8(f)(3)b., Fla. Const. and Sec. 112.3121, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  For a period of six years after vacation of public position occurring on or after December 31, 

2022, a county commissioner, a county officer pursuant  to Article VIII or county charter, a  school 

board member, a superintendent of schools, an elected municipal officer, or an elected special district 

officer in a special district with ad valorem taxing authority shall not lobby for compensation on issues 



13 
 

of policy, appropriations, or procurement before his or her former agency or governing body. [Art. II 

Sec 8(f)(3)c., Fla. Const. and Sec. 112.3121, Fla. Stat.] 

 

4.  Additional Restrictions on Former State Employees 

 

  A former executive or  judicial branch employee or PSC employee  is prohibited from having 

employment  or  a  contractual  relationship,  at  any  time  after  retirement  or  termination  of 

employment, with any business entity (other than a public agency) in connection with a contract in 

which the employee participated personally and substantially by recommendation or decision while 

a public employee. [Sec. 112.3185(3), Fla. Stat.] 

 

  A  former  executive  or  judicial  branch  employee  or  PSC  employee  who  has  retired  or 

terminated employment  is prohibited from having any employment or contractual relationship for 

two years with any business entity  (other  than a public agency)  in connection with a contract  for 

services  which  was  within  his  or  her  responsibility  while  serving  as  a  state  employee. 

[Sec.112.3185(4), Fla. Stat.] 

 

  Unless waived by  the agency head, a  former executive or  judicial branch employee or PSC 

employee may not be paid more for contractual services provided by him or her to the former agency 

during  the  first  year  after  leaving  the  agency  than  his  or  her  annual  salary  before  leaving.  [Sec. 

112.3185(5), Fla. Stat.] 

 

  These prohibitions do not apply to PSC employees who were so employed on or before Dec. 

31, 1994.   

 

5.  Lobbying by Former Local Government Officers and Employees 

 

  A person elected to county, municipal, school district, or special district office  is prohibited 

from representing another person or entity for compensation before the government body or agency 

of which he or she was an officer for two years after leaving office. Appointed officers and employees 

of counties, municipalities, school districts, and special districts may be subject to a similar restriction 

by local ordinance or resolution. [Sec. 112.313(13) and (14), Fla. Stat.] 



14 
 

E.  VOTING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST   

 

  State public officers are prohibited from voting in an official capacity on any measure which 

they know would inure to their own special private gain or loss. A state public officer who abstains, 

or who votes on a measure which the officer knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of 

any principal by whom he or she is retained, of the parent organization or subsidiary or sibling of a 

corporate principal by which he or she is retained, of a relative, or of a business associate, must make 

every  reasonable  effort  to  file  a memorandum  of  voting  conflict with  the  recording  secretary  in 

advance of the vote. If that is not possible, it must be filed within 15 days after the vote occurs.  The 

memorandum must disclose the nature of the officer’s interest in the matter. 

 

  No county, municipal, or other local public officer shall vote in an official capacity upon any 

measure which would inure to his or her special private gain or loss, or which the officer knows would 

inure to the special private gain or loss of any principal by whom he or she is retained, of the parent 

organization or  subsidiary or  sibling of  a  corporate principal by which he or  she  is  retained, of  a 

relative, or of a business associate. The officer must publicly announce the nature of his or her interest 

before  the vote and must  file a memorandum of voting conflict on Commission Form 8B with  the 

meeting’s recording officer within 15 days after the vote occurs disclosing the nature of his or her 

interest in the matter. However, members of community redevelopment agencies and district officers 

elected on a one‐acre, one‐vote basis are not required to abstain when voting in that capacity. 

 

  No appointed state or  local officer shall participate  in any matter which would  inure to the 

officer’s special private gain or  loss, the special private gain or  loss of any principal by whom he or 

she is retained, of the parent organization or subsidiary or sibling of a corporate principal by which 

he or she is retained, of a relative, or of a business associate, without first disclosing the nature of his 

or her interest in the matter. The memorandum of voting conflict (Commission Form 8A or 8B) must 

be filed with the meeting’s recording officer, be provided to the other members of the agency, and 

be read publicly at the next meeting. 

 

  If the conflict is unknown or not disclosed prior to the meeting, the appointed official must 

orally  disclose  the  conflict  at  the  meeting  when  the  conflict  becomes  known.  Also,  a  written 

memorandum of voting conflict must be filed with the meeting’s recording officer within 15 days of 



15 
 

the  disclosure  being made  and must  be  provided  to  the other members  of  the  agency, with  the 

disclosure being read publicly at the next scheduled meeting. [Sec. 112.3143, Fla. Stat.] 

 

F.  DISCLOSURES 

 

  Conflicts of interest may occur when public officials are in a position to make decisions that 

affect  their  personal  financial  interests.  This  is  why  public  officers  and  employees,  as  well  as 

candidates who run for public office, are required to publicly disclose their  financial  interests. The 

disclosure  process  serves  to  remind  officials  of  their  obligation  to  put  the  public  interest  above 

personal considerations. It also helps citizens to monitor the considerations of those who spend their 

tax dollars and participate in public policy decisions or administration. 

 

  All public officials and candidates do not file the same degree of disclosure; nor do they all 

file  at  the  same  time  or  place.  Thus,  care must  be  taken  to  determine which  disclosure  forms  a 

particular official or candidate is required to file. 

 

  The  following  forms  are  described  below  to  set  forth  the  requirements  of  the  various 

disclosures and the steps for correctly providing the information in a timely manner. 

 

1.  FORM 1 ‐ Limited Financial Disclosure 

 

Who Must File: 

 

  Persons required to file FORM 1  include all state officers, local officers, candidates for local 

elective office, and specified state employees as defined below (other than those officers who are 

required by law to file FORM 6). 

 

STATE OFFICERS include: 

 

1)  Elected  public  officials  not  serving  in  a  political  subdivision  of  the  state  and  any  person 

appointed to fill a vacancy in such office, unless required to file full disclosure on Form 6. 

 



16 
 

2)  Appointed  members  of  each  board,  commission,  authority,  or  council  having  statewide 

jurisdiction,  excluding  members  of  solely  advisory  bodies;  but  including  judicial  nominating 

commission  members;  directors  of  Enterprise  Florida,  Scripps  Florida  Funding  Corporation,  and 

CareerSource Florida, and members of the Council on the Social Status of Black Men and Boys; the 

Executive  Director,  governors,  and  senior managers  of  Citizens  Property  Insurance  Corporation; 

governors and senior managers of   Florida Workers’ Compensation Joint Underwriting Association, 

board members of the Northeast Florida Regional Transportation Commission, and members of the 

board of Triumph Gulf Coast, Inc.; members of the board of Florida is for Veterans, Inc.; and members 

of the Technology Advisory Council within the Agency for State Technology. 

   

3)  The  Commissioner  of  Education, members  of  the  State  Board  of  Education,  the  Board  of 

Governors, local boards of trustees and presidents of state universities, and members of the Florida 

Prepaid College Board. 

 

LOCAL OFFICERS include: 

 

1)  Persons elected  to office  in any political  subdivision  (such as municipalities,  counties, and 

special districts) and any person appointed to fill a vacancy in such office, unless required to file full 

disclosure on Form 6. 

 

2)  Appointed members  of  the  following  boards,  councils,  commissions,  authorities,  or  other 

bodies of  any  county, municipality,  school  district,  independent  special  district, or other  political 

subdivision:  the governing body of  the  subdivision; a  community  college or  junior  college district 

board of trustees; a board having the power to enforce  local code provisions; a planning or zoning 

board, board of adjustments or appeals, community  redevelopment agency board, or other board 

having  the  power  to  recommend,  create,  or modify  land  planning  or  zoning within  the  political 

subdivision, except for citizen advisory committees, technical coordinating committees, and similar 

groups who only have the power to make recommendations to planning or zoning boards, except for 

representatives  of  a military  installation  acting  on  behalf  of  all military  installations within  that 

jurisdiction; a pension board or retirement board empowered to invest pension or retirement funds 

or to determine entitlement to or amount of a pension or other retirement benefit. 

 



17 
 

3)  Any other appointed member of a local government board who is required to file a statement 

of financial interests by the appointing authority or the enabling legislation, ordinance, or resolution 

creating the board. 

 

4)  Persons holding any of these positions in local government: mayor; county or city manager; 

chief  administrative  employee  or  finance  director  of  a  county,  municipality,  or  other  political 

subdivision; county or municipal attorney; chief county or municipal building  inspector; county or 

municipal water  resources  coordinator;  county  or municipal  pollution  control  director;  county  or 

municipal environmental control director; county or municipal administrator with power to grant or 

deny a land development permit; chief of police; fire chief; municipal clerk; appointed district school 

superintendent;  community  college  president;  district  medical  examiner;  purchasing  agent 

(regardless  of  title)  having  the  authority  to make  any  purchase  exceeding  $35,000  for  the  local 

governmental unit. 

 

5)  Members of governing boards of charter schools operated by a city or other public entity. 

 

6)   The officers, directors, and  chief executive officer of a  corporation, partnership, or other 

business entity that is serving as the chief administrative or executive officer or employee of a political 

subdivision, and any business entity employee who is acting as the chief administrative or executive 

officer or employee of the political subdivision. [Sec. 112.3136, Fla. Stat.] 

 

SPECIFIED STATE EMPLOYEE includes: 

 

1)  Employees  in the Office of the Governor or of a Cabinet member who are exempt from the 

Career Service System, excluding secretarial, clerical, and similar positions. 

 

2)  The following positions in each state department, commission, board, or council: secretary or 

state surgeon general, assistant or deputy secretary, executive director, assistant or deputy executive 

director, and anyone having the power normally conferred upon such persons, regardless of title. 

 



18 
 

3)  The  following positions  in each  state department or division: director, assistant or deputy 

director, bureau chief, assistant bureau chief, and any person having the power normally conferred 

upon such persons, regardless of title. 

 

4)  Assistant  state  attorneys,  assistant  public  defenders,  criminal  conflict  and  civil  regional 

counsel,  assistant  criminal  conflict  and  civil  regional  counsel,  public  counsel,  full‐time  state 

employees serving as counsel or assistant counsel to a state agency, judges of compensation claims, 

administrative law judges, and hearing officers. 

 

5)  The superintendent or director of a state mental health institute established for training and 

research  in  the  mental  health  field,  or  any  major  state  institution  or  facility  established  for 

corrections, training, treatment, or rehabilitation. 

 

6)  State agency business managers, finance and accounting directors, personnel officers, grant 

coordinators, and purchasing agents (regardless of title) with power to make a purchase exceeding 

$35,000. 

 

7)  The  following  positions  in  legislative  branch  agencies:  each  employee  (other  than  those 

employed  in  maintenance,  clerical,  secretarial,  or  similar  positions  and  legislative  assistants 

exempted by the presiding officer of their house); and each employee of the Commission on Ethics. 

 

What Must Be Disclosed: 

 

  FORM 1 requirements are set forth fully on the form. In general, this includes the reporting 

person’s sources and types of financial  interests, such as the names of employers and addresses of 

real  property  holdings.  NO  DOLLAR  VALUES  ARE  REQUIRED  TO  BE  LISTED.  In  addition,  the  form 

requires the disclosure of certain relationships with, and ownership  interests  in, specified types of 

businesses such as banks, savings and loans, insurance companies, and utility companies. 

 

 

 

 



19 
 

When to File: 

 

  CANDIDATES  for elected  local office must  file FORM 1  together with and at  the same  time 

they file their qualifying papers. 

 

  STATE and LOCAL OFFICERS and SPECIFIED STATE EMPLOYEES are required to file disclosure 

by  July 1 of each year. They also must  file within  thirty days  from  the date of appointment or  the 

beginning  of  employment.  Those  appointees  requiring  Senate  confirmation  must  file  prior  to 

confirmation. 

 

Where to File: 

 

  Each LOCAL OFFICER files FORM 1 with the Supervisor of Elections in the county in which he 

or she permanently resides. 

 

  A STATE OFFICER or SPECIFIED STATE EMPLOYEE  files with  the Commission on Ethics.  [Sec. 

112.3145, Fla. Stat.] 

 

2.  FORM 1F ‐ Final Form 1 Limited Financial Disclosure 

 

  FORM 1F  is the disclosure form required to be filed within 60 days after a public officer or 

employee required to file FORM 1 leaves his or her public position.  The form covers the disclosure 

period between January 1 and the last day of office or employment within that year. 

 

3.  FORM 2 ‐ Quarterly Client Disclosure 

 

  The state officers, local officers, and specified state employees listed above, as well as elected 

constitutional officers, must file a FORM 2 if they or a partner or associate of their professional firm 

represent a client for compensation before an agency at their level of government. 

 

  A FORM 2 disclosure includes the names of clients represented by the reporting person or by 

any partner or associate of his or her professional firm for a fee or commission before agencies at the 



20 
 

reporting  person’s  level  of  government.  Such  representations  do  not  include  appearances  in 

ministerial matters, appearances before judges of compensation claims, or representations on behalf 

of one’s agency  in one’s official capacity. Nor does  the  term  include  the preparation and  filing of 

forms and applications merely for the purpose of obtaining or transferring a license, so  long as the 

issuance of the  license does not require a variance, special consideration, or a certificate of public 

convenience and necessity. 

 

When to File: 

 

  This disclosure  should be  filed quarterly, by  the end of  the calendar quarter  following  the 

calendar quarter during which  a  reportable  representation was made.  FORM 2 need not be  filed 

merely  to  indicate  that  no  reportable  representations  occurred  during  the  preceding  quarter;  it 

should be filed ONLY when reportable representations were made during the quarter. 

 

Where To File: 

 

  LOCAL OFFICERS file with the Supervisor of Elections of the county in which they permanently 

reside. 

 

  STATE OFFICERS and SPECIFIED STATE EMPLOYEES file with the Commission on Ethics. [Sec. 

112.3145(4), Fla. Stat.] 

 

4.  FORM 6 ‐ Full and Public Disclosure 

 

Who Must File: 

 

  Persons  required  by  law  to  file  FORM  6  include  all  elected  constitutional  officers  and 

candidates for such office; the mayor and members of the city council and candidates for these offices 

in Jacksonville; the Duval County Superintendent of Schools; judges of compensation claims (pursuant 

to Sec. 440.442, Fla. Stat.); members of the Florida Housing Finance Corporation Board and members 

of  expressway  authorities,  transportation  authorities  (except  the  Jacksonville  Transportation 



21 
 

Authority), bridge authority, or toll authorities created pursuant to Ch. 348 or 343, or 349, or other 

general law. 

 

What Must be Disclosed: 

 

  FORM 6 is a detailed disclosure of assets, liabilities, and sources of income over $1,000 and 

their values, as well as net worth. Officials may opt to file their most recent income tax return in lieu 

of listing sources of income but still must disclose their assets, liabilities, and net worth. In addition, 

the form requires the disclosure of certain relationships with, and ownership  interests  in, specified 

types of businesses such as banks, savings and loans, insurance companies, and utility companies. 

 

When and Where To File: 

 

  Officials must file FORM 6 annually by July 1 with the Commission on Ethics.  

 

  Beginning  January 1, 2023, all Form 6 disclosures must be  filed electronically  through  the 

Commission’s  electronic  filing  system.  These  disclosures will  be  published  and  searchable  on  the 

Commission’s website.  

 

CANDIDATES must register and use the electronic filing system to complete the Form 6, then file the 

disclosure with the officer before whom they qualify at the time of qualifying. [Art. II, Sec. 8(a) and 

(i), Fla. Const., and Sec. 112.3144, Fla. Stat.] 

 

5.  FORM 6F ‐ Final Form 6 Full and Public Disclosure 

 

  This  is  the  disclosure  form  required  to  be  filed  within  60  days  after  a  public  officer  or 

employee required to file FORM 6 leaves his or her public position.  The form covers the disclosure 

period between January 1 and the last day of office or employment within that year.  

 

 

 

 



22 
 

6.  FORM 9 ‐ Quarterly Gift Disclosure 

 

  Each person required to file FORM 1 or FORM 6, and each state procurement employee, must 

file a FORM 9, Quarterly Gift Disclosure, with the Commission on Ethics on the last day of any calendar 

quarter following the calendar quarter in which he or she received a gift worth more than $100, other 

than gifts from relatives, gifts prohibited from being accepted, gifts primarily associated with his or 

her business or employment, and gifts otherwise  required  to be disclosed. FORM 9 NEED NOT BE 

FILED if no such gift was received during the calendar quarter. 

 

  Information  to be disclosed  includes a description of  the gift and  its value,  the name and 

address of the donor, the date of the gift, and a copy of any receipt for the gift provided by the donor. 

[Sec. 112.3148, Fla. Stat.] 

  

7.  FORM  10  ‐  Annual  Disclosure  of  Gifts  from      Government  Agencies  and  Direct‐Support 

Organizations and Honorarium Event Related Expenses 

 

  State government entities, airport authorities, counties, municipalities, school boards, water 

management districts, and the South Florida Regional Transportation Authority, may give a gift worth 

more than $100 to a person required to file FORM 1 or FORM 6, and to state procurement employees, 

if a public purpose can be shown for the gift. Also, a direct‐support organization for a governmental 

entity may give such a gift to a person who is an officer or employee of that entity. These gifts are to 

be reported on FORM 10, to be filed by July 1. 

 

  The  governmental  entity  or  direct‐support  organization  giving  the  gift must  provide  the 

officer or employee with a statement about the gift no later than March 1 of the following year. The 

officer or employee then must disclose this information by filing a statement by July 1 with his or her 

annual financial disclosure that describes the gift and  lists the donor, the date of the gift, and the 

value of  the  total gifts provided during  the calendar year. State procurement employees  file  their 

statements with the Commission on Ethics. [Sec. 112.3148, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  In addition, a person required to file FORM 1 or FORM 6, or a state procurement employee, 

who receives expenses or payment of expenses related to an honorarium event from someone who 



23 
 

is prohibited from giving him or her an honorarium, must disclose annually the name, address, and 

affiliation of  the donor,  the  amount of  the  expenses,  the date of  the event,  a description of  the 

expenses paid or provided, and the total value of the expenses on FORM 10. The donor paying the 

expenses must provide the officer or employee with a statement about the expenses within 60 days 

of the honorarium event.  

 

  The disclosure must be  filed by  July 1,  for expenses  received during  the previous calendar 

year, with the officer’s or employee’s FORM 1 or FORM 6. State procurement employees file their 

statements with the Commission on Ethics. [Sec. 112.3149, Fla. Stat.] 

 

  However, notwithstanding Sec. 112.3149, Fla. Stat., no executive branch or legislative lobbyist 

or principal shall make, directly or  indirectly, and no executive branch agency official or employee 

who files FORM 1 or FORM 6 shall knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any expenditure made for 

the purpose of lobbying.  This may include gifts or honorarium event related expenses that formerly 

were permitted under Sections 112.3148 and 112.3149. [Sec. 112.3215, Fla. Stat.] Similar prohibitions 

apply  to  legislative  officials  and  employees.  However,  these  laws  are  not  administered  by  the 

Commission on Ethics. [Sec. 11.045, Fla. Stat.] In addition, gifts, which include anything not primarily 

related to political activities authorized under ch. 106, are prohibited from political committees. [Sec. 

112.31485 Fla. Stat.] 

 

8. FORM 30 ‐ Donor’s Quarterly Gift Disclosure 

 

  As mentioned above, the following persons and entities generally are prohibited from giving 

a gift worth more than $100 to a reporting individual (a person required to file FORM 1 or FORM 6) 

or  to  a  state procurement  employee:  a political  committee;  a  lobbyist who  lobbies  the  reporting 

individual’s or procurement employee’s agency, and the partner, firm, employer, or principal of such 

a  lobbyist;  and  vendors.  If  such person or entity makes  a  gift worth between $25  and $100  to  a 

reporting individual or state procurement employee (that is not accepted in behalf of a governmental 

entity or charitable organization), the gift should be reported on FORM 30. The donor also must notify 

the recipient at the time the gift is made that it will be reported.  

 



24 
 

  The FORM 30 should be filed by the  last day of the calendar quarter following the calendar 

quarter  in which the gift was made.  If the gift was made to an  individual  in the  legislative branch, 

FORM 30 should be filed with the Lobbyist Registrar. [See page 35 for address.] If the gift was to any 

other  reporting  individual  or  state  procurement  employee,  FORM  30  should  be  filed  with  the 

Commission on Ethics. 

 

  However,  notwithstanding  Section  112.3148,  Fla.  Stat.,  no  executive  branch  lobbyist  or 

principal shall make, directly or indirectly, and no executive branch agency official or employee who 

files FORM 1 or FORM 6 shall knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any expenditure made for the 

purpose of  lobbying.   This may  include gifts that formerly were permitted under Section 112.3148.  

[Sec. 112.3215, Fla. Stat.] Similar prohibitions apply to legislative officials and employees. However, 

these  laws are not administered by  the Commission on Ethics.  [Sec. 11.045, Fla. Stat.]  In addition, 

gifts from political committees are prohibited. [Sec. 112.31485, Fla. Stat.] 

 

9. FORM 1X AND FORM 6X ‐ Amendments to Form 1 and Form 6 

 

  These forms are provided for officers or employees to amend their previously filed Form 1 or 

Form 6. 

 

IV. AVAILABILITY OF FORMS 

 

  LOCAL OFFICERS and EMPLOYEES who must file FORM 1 annually will be sent the form by mail 

from the Supervisor of Elections in the county in which they permanently reside not later than JUNE 

1 of each year. Newly elected and appointed officials or employees should contact the heads of their 

agencies for copies of the form or download it from www.ethics.state.fl.us, as should those persons 

who  are  required  to  file  their  final  disclosure  statements  within  60  days  of  leaving  office  or 

employment. The Form 1 will be  filed electronically with  the Florida Commission on Ethics via  the 

Electronic Financial Disclosure Management System (EFDMS), beginning in 2023. 

 

  Beginning January 1, 2023, ELECTED CONSTITUTIONAL OFFICERS and other officials who must 

file  Form  6  annually must  file  electronically  via  the  Commission’s  Electronic  Financial  Disclosure 

Management System (EFDMS). Paper forms will not be promulgated. Communications regarding the 



25 
 

annual filing requirement will be sent via email to filers no later than June 1. Filers must maintain an 

updated email address in their User Profile in EFDMS.  

 

  OTHER STATE OFFICERS, and SPECIFIED STATE EMPLOYEES who must file Form 1 annually will 

be sent the forms by mail from the Florida Commission on Ethics by June 1, 2023. Newly elected and 

appointed officers and employees should contact the head of their agencies for copies of the form or 

download  the  form  from www.ethics.state.fl.us, as  should  those persons who are  required  to  file 

their final financial disclosure statement within 60 days of leaving office or employment. 

 

V. PENALTIES 

 

A.  Non‐criminal  Penalties  for  Violation  of  the  Sunshine  Amendment  and  the  Code  of 

Ethics 

 

  There are no criminal penalties  for violation of  the Sunshine Amendment and  the Code of 

Ethics.  Penalties  for  violation  of  these  laws may  include:  impeachment,  removal  from  office  or 

employment, suspension, public censure, reprimand, demotion, reduction  in salary level, forfeiture 

of no more than one‐third salary per month for no more than twelve months, a civil penalty not to 

exceed $10,000, and restitution of any pecuniary benefits received, and triple the value of a gift from 

a political committee. 

 

B.  Penalties for Candidates 

 

  CANDIDATES for public office who are found in violation of the Sunshine Amendment or the 

Code of Ethics may be subject to one or more of the following penalties: disqualification from being 

on the ballot, public censure, reprimand, or a civil penalty not to exceed $10,000, and triple the value 

of a gift received from a political committee. 

 

C.  Penalties for Former Officers and Employees  

 

  FORMER PUBLIC OFFICERS or EMPLOYEES who are found in violation of a provision applicable 

to  former officers or employees or whose violation occurred prior  to such officer’s or employee’s 



26 
 

leaving public office or employment may be subject to one or more of the following penalties: public 

censure  and  reprimand,  a  civil  penalty  not  to  exceed  $10,000,  and  restitution  of  any  pecuniary 

benefits received, and triple the value of a gift received from a political committee. 

 

  D.  Penalties for Lobbyists and Others 

 

  An executive branch  lobbyist who has failed to comply with the Executive Branch Lobbying 

Registration law (see Part VIII) may be fined up to $5,000, reprimanded, censured, or prohibited from 

lobbying  executive  branch  agencies  for  up  to  two  years.  Lobbyists,  their  employers,  principals, 

partners, and  firms, and political committees and committees of continuous existence who give a 

prohibited gift or honorarium or fail to comply with the gift reporting requirements for gifts worth 

between $25 and $100, may be penalized by a  fine of not more  than $5,000 and a prohibition on 

lobbying, or employing a  lobbyist to  lobby, before the agency of the public officer or employee to 

whom  the gift was given  for up  to  two years. Any agent or person acting on behalf of a political 

committee giving a prohibited gift is personally liable for a civil penalty of up to triple the value of the 

gift. 

 

  Executive Branch lobbying firms that fail to timely file their quarterly compensation reports 

may be fined $50 per day per report for each day the report is late, up to a maximum fine of $5,000 

per report. 

 

  E.  Felony Convictions: Forfeiture of Retirement Benefits 

 

  Public officers and employees are subject  to  forfeiture of all  rights and benefits under  the 

retirement  system  to  which  they  belong  if  convicted  of  certain  offenses.  The  offenses  include 

embezzlement or theft of public funds; bribery; felonies specified  in Chapter 838, Florida Statutes; 

impeachable  offenses;  and  felonies  committed with  intent  to  defraud  the  public  or  their  public 

agency. [Sec. 112.3173, Fla. Stat.] 

 

 

 

 



27 
 

  F.  Automatic Penalties for Failure to File Annual Disclosure 

 

  Public  officers  and  employees  required  to  file  either  Form  1  or  Form  6  annual  financial 

disclosure are subject to automatic fines of $25 for each day late the form is filed after September 1, 

up to a maximum penalty of $1,500. [Sec. 112.3144 and 112.3145, Fla. Stat.] 

 

VI. ADVISORY OPINIONS 

 

  Conflicts of  interest may be avoided by greater awareness of the ethics  laws on the part of 

public officials and employees through advisory assistance from the Commission on Ethics. 

 

  A.  Who Can Request an Opinion 

 

  Any public officer, candidate for public office, or public employee in Florida who is in doubt 

about the applicability of the standards of conduct or disclosure laws to himself or herself, or anyone 

who has the power to hire or terminate another public employee, may seek an advisory opinion from 

the Commission about himself or herself or that employee. 

 

  B.  How to Request an Opinion 

 

  Opinions may be  requested by  letter presenting  a question based on  a  real  situation  and 

including  a detailed description of  the  situation. Opinions  are  issued by  the Commission  and  are 

binding on the conduct of the person who  is the subject of the opinion, unless material facts were 

omitted or misstated in the request for the opinion. Published opinions will not bear the name of the 

persons  involved  unless  they  consent  to  the  use  of  their  names;  however,  the  request  and  all 

information pertaining to it is a public record, made available to the Commission and to members of 

the public in advance of the Commission’s consideration of the question. 

 

  C.  How to Obtain Published Opinions 

 

  All of the Commission’s opinions are available for viewing or download at its website:  

www.ethics.state.fl.us.  



28 
 

VII. COMPLAINTS 

 

  A.  Citizen Involvement 

 

  The Commission on Ethics cannot conduct investigations of alleged violations of the Sunshine 

Amendment  or  the  Code  of  Ethics  unless  a  person  files  a  sworn  complaint with  the  Commission 

alleging such violation has occurred, or a referral is received, as discussed below. 

 

  If you have knowledge that a person in government has violated the standards of conduct or 

disclosure laws described above, you may report these violations to the Commission by filing a sworn 

complaint  on  the  form  prescribed  by  the  Commission  and  available  for  download  at 

www.ethics.state.fl.us. The Commission is unable to take action based on learning of such misdeeds 

through newspaper reports, telephone calls, or letters. 

 

  You can download a complaint form (FORM 50) from the Commission’s website:  

www.ethics.state.fl.us, or contact the Commission office at the address or phone number shown on 

the inside front cover of this booklet. 

   

  B.  Referrals 

 

  The Commission may accept  referrals  from:  the Governor,  the  Florida Department of  Law 

Enforcement, a State Attorney, or a U.S. Attorney.  A vote of six of the Commission’s nine members 

is required to proceed on such a referral. 

 

  C.  Confidentiality 

 

  The  complaint  or  referral,  as  well  as  all  proceedings  and  records  relating  thereto,  is 

confidential until the accused requests that such records be made public or until the matter reaches 

a  stage  in  the  Commission’s  proceedings  where  it  becomes  public.  This means  that  unless  the 

Commission receives a written waiver of confidentiality from the accused, the Commission is not free 

to  release any documents or  to comment on a complaint or  referral  to members of  the public or 

press, so long as the complaint or referral remains in a confidential stage. 



29 
 

  A COMPLAINT OR REFERRAL MAY NOT BE FILED WITH RESPECT TO A CANDIDATE ON THE DAY 

OF THE ELECTION, OR WITHIN THE 30 CALENDAR DAYS PRECEDING THE ELECTION DATE, UNLESS IT IS 

BASED ON PERSONAL INFORMATION OR INFORMATION OTHER THAN HEARSAY. 

   

  D.  How the Complaint Process Works 

 

  Complaints which allege a matter within the Commission’s jurisdiction are assigned a tracking 

number and Commission staff forwards a copy of the original sworn complaint to the accused within 

five  working  days  of  its  receipt.  Any  subsequent  sworn  amendments  to  the  complaint  also  are 

transmitted within five working days of their receipt. 

 

  Once a complaint  is  filed,  it goes  through  three procedural stages under  the Commission’s 

rules.  The  first  stage  is  a  determination  of whether  the  allegations  of  the  complaint  are  legally 

sufficient: that is, whether they indicate a possible violation of any law over which the Commission 

has jurisdiction. If the complaint is found not to be legally sufficient, the Commission will order that 

the  complaint  be  dismissed without  investigation,  and  all  records  relating  to  the  complaint will 

become public at that time.  

 

  In  cases  of  very  minor  financial  disclosure  violations,  the  official  will  be  allowed  an 

opportunity to correct or amend his or her disclosure form. Otherwise, if the complaint  is found to 

be  legally sufficient, a preliminary  investigation will be undertaken by the  investigative staff of the 

Commission.  The  second  stage  of  the  Commission’s  proceedings  involves  this  preliminary 

investigation and a decision by the Commission as to whether there is probable cause to believe that 

there has been a violation of any of the ethics  laws.  If the Commission finds no probable cause to 

believe there has been a violation of the ethics laws, the complaint will be dismissed and will become 

a matter of public record. If the Commission finds probable cause to believe there has been a violation 

of the ethics laws, the complaint becomes public and usually enters the third stage of proceedings. 

This  stage  requires  the  Commission  to  decide whether  the  law was  actually  violated  and,  if  so, 

whether a penalty  should be  recommended. At  this  stage,  the accused has  the  right  to  request a 

public hearing (trial) at which evidence is presented, or the Commission may order that such a hearing 

be held. Public hearings usually are held in or near the area where the alleged violation occurred. 

 



30 
 

  When the Commission concludes that a violation has been committed, it issues a public report 

of  its  findings and may  recommend one or more penalties  to  the appropriate disciplinary body or 

official. 

 

  When the Commission determines that a person has filed a complaint with knowledge that 

the  complaint  contains  one  or more  false  allegations  or with  reckless  disregard  for whether  the 

complaint  contains  false  allegations,  the  complainant  will  be  liable  for  costs  plus  reasonable 

attorney’s fees incurred by the person complained against. The Department of Legal Affairs may bring 

a civil action to recover such fees and costs, if they are not paid voluntarily within 30 days.  

 

  E.  Dismissal of Complaints At Any Stage of Disposition 

 

  The  Commission may,  at  its  discretion,  dismiss  any  complaint  at  any  stage  of  disposition 

should it determine that the public interest would not be served by proceeding further, in which case 

the Commission will issue a public report stating with particularity its reasons for the dismissal. [Sec. 

112.324(12), Fla. Stat.] 

    

  F.  Statute of Limitations 

 

  All sworn complaints alleging a violation of the Sunshine Amendment or the Code of Ethics 

must be filed with the Commission within five years of the alleged violation or other breach of the 

public trust. Time starts to run on the day AFTER the violation or breach of public trust is committed. 

The statute of  limitations  is tolled on the day a sworn complaint  is  filed with the Commission.  If a 

complaint  is  filed  and  the  statute  of  limitations  has  run,  the  complaint will  be  dismissed.  [Sec. 

112.3231, Fla. Stat.] 

 

VIII. EXECUTIVE BRANCH LOBBYING 

   

  Any  person  who,  for  compensation  and  on  behalf  of  another,  lobbies  an  agency  of  the 

executive branch of state government with respect to a decision in the area of policy or procurement 

may be required to register as an executive branch lobbyist. Registration is required before lobbying 

an agency and is renewable annually. In addition, each lobbying firm must file a compensation report 



31 
 

with the Commission for each calendar quarter during any portion of which one or more of the firm’s 

lobbyists were registered to represent a principal.  As noted above, no executive branch lobbyist or 

principal can make, directly or  indirectly, and no executive branch agency official or employee who 

files FORM 1 or FORM 6 can knowingly accept, directly or indirectly, any expenditure made for the 

purpose of lobbying. [Sec. 112.3215, Fla. Stat.]  

 

  Paying an executive branch lobbyist a contingency fee based upon the outcome of any specific 

executive branch action, and receiving such a fee, is prohibited. A violation of this prohibition is a first 

degree misdemeanor, and the amount received is subject to forfeiture. This does not prohibit sales 

people from receiving a commission. [Sec. 112.3217, Fla. Stat.] 

  Executive  branch  departments,  state  universities,  community  colleges,  and  water 

management  districts  are  prohibited  from  using  public  funds  to  retain  an  executive  branch  (or 

legislative branch) lobbyist, although these agencies may use full‐time employees as lobbyists. [Sec. 

11.062, Fla. Stat.]  

 

  Online registration and filing is available at www.floridalobbyist.gov. Additional information 

about the executive branch lobbyist registration system may be obtained by contacting the Lobbyist 

Registrar at the following address: 

 

Executive Branch Lobbyist Registration 

Room G‐68, Claude Pepper Building 

111 W. Madison Street 

Tallahassee, FL 32399‐1425 

Phone: 850/922‐4987 

 

IX. WHISTLE‐BLOWER’S ACT 

 

  In 1986, the Legislature enacted a “Whistle‐blower’s Act” to protect employees of agencies 

and government contractors from adverse personnel actions in retaliation for disclosing information 

in a sworn complaint alleging certain  types of  improper activities.   Since  then,  the Legislature has 

revised this law to afford greater protection to these employees.   

 



32 
 

  While this language is contained within the Code of Ethics, the Commission has no jurisdiction 

or authority to proceed against persons who violate this Act. Therefore, a person who has disclosed 

information  alleging  improper  conduct  governed  by  this  law  and  who  may  suffer  adverse 

consequences  as  a  result  should  contact  one  or more  of  the  following:    the Office  of  the  Chief 

Inspector General in the Executive Office of the Governor; the Department of Legal Affairs; the Florida 

Commission on Human Relations; or a private attorney.  [Sec. 112.3187 ‐ 112.31895, Fla. Stat.] 

 

X.  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 

  As mentioned above, we suggest that you review the language used in each law for a more 

detailed understanding of Florida’s ethics laws. The “Sunshine Amendment” is Article II, Section 8, of 

the Florida Constitution. The Code of Ethics for Public Officers and Employees is contained in Part III 

of Chapter 112, Florida Statutes. 

 

  Additional  information about the Commission’s functions and  interpretations of these  laws 

may be  found  in Chapter 34 of the Florida Administrative Code, where the Commission’s rules are 

published, and  in The Florida Administrative Law Reports, which until 2005 published many of  the 

Commission’s  final  orders.  The  Commission’s  rules,  orders,  and  opinions  also  are  available  at 

www.ethics.state.fl.us.  

 

  If you are a public officer or employee concerned about your obligations under these  laws, 

the  staff  of  the  Commission will  be  happy  to  respond  to  oral  and written  inquiries  by  providing 

information  about  the  law,  the  Commission’s  interpretations  of  the  law,  and  the  Commission’s 

procedures. 

 

XI. TRAINING 

 

  Constitutional  officers,  elected  municipal  officers,  and  commissioners  of  community 

redevelopment agencies  (CRAs) are required to receive a total of  four hours training, per calendar 

year,  in the area of ethics, public records, and open meetings. The Commission on Ethics does not 



33 
 

track  compliance  or  certify  providers.  Officials  indicate  their  compliance  with  the  training 

requirement when they file their annual Form 1 or Form 6. 

 

  Visit  the  training  page  on  the  Commission’s  website  for  up‐to‐date  rules,  opinions, 

audio/video training, and opportunities for live training conducted by Commission staff. 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 5 



RESOLUTION 2024-02 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SEMINOLE PALMS 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT RE-DESIGNATING CERTAIN OFFICERS OF THE 
DISTRICT, AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE 

 
WHEREAS, the Seminole Palms Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of 

special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes; and                                  
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of the District desires to designate certain Officers of the 
District. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE SEMINOLE 
PALMS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
SECTION 1.                                   is appointed Chairman. 
 
SECTION 2.           is appointed Vice Chairman. 
  
SECTION 3.  David McInnes     is appointed Secretary. 

        Jacquelyn Leger     is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

                                   is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

                                    is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

                                          is appointed Assistant Secretary. 

 Johanna Lee     is appointed Treasurer. 

 Bridgett Alexander     is appointed Assistant Treasurer. 

 Scott Smith      is appointed Assistant Treasurer. 

 

SECTION 4.  This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon its adoption. 
 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 22nd day of January, 2024.  

 
ATTEST:  
 
 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary  

SEMINOLE PALMS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Chairperson/Vice Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 

 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 6 



MINUTES OF MEETING 1 

SEMINOLE PALMS 2 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3 

 The Special Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Seminole Palms Community Development 4 
District was held on Thursday, November 16, 2023 at 11:22 a.m. at the Hilton Garden Inn, located at 55 5 
Town Center Boulevard, Palm Coast, FL 32164. 6 

FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS – Roll Call 7 

Mr. McInnes called the meeting to order. 8 

Present and constituting a quorum were:  9 

Justin Frye Board Supervisor, Vice Chairman 10 
Eric Morrisette Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 11 
Greg Meath Board Supervisor, Assistant Secretary 12 

Also, present were: 13 

David McInnes District Manager, Vesta District Services 14 
Jere Earlywine (via Zoom) District Counsel, Kutak Rock 15 
Haley Kiernan Kolter 16 

The following is a summary of the discussions and actions taken at the November 16, 2023 Seminole Palms 17 
CDD Board of Supervisors Special Meeting. Audio for this meeting is available upon public records 18 
request.  19 

SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments – (limited to 3 minutes per individual for 20 
agenda items) 21 

 There being none, the next item followed. 22 

THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS – Exhibit 1: Presentation of Proof of Publication(s) 23 

FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Officer Appointment 24 

On a MOTION by Mr. Frye, SECONDED by Mr. Meath, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board accepted 25 
Brad Walker’s resignation dated 09/19/2022, for the Seminole Palms Community Development District. 26 

Supervisor Frye nominated Haley Kiernan to Vacant Seat #3 with no opposition. 27 

On a MOTION by Mr. Frye, SECONDED by Mr. Meath, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board appointed 28 
Haley Kiernan to Vacant Seat #3, for the Seminole Palms Community Development District. 29 

A. Exhibit 2: Oath of Office 30 

Mr. McInnes swore in Haley Kiernan. 31 

The Board moved to the Fifth Order of Business – Consent Agenda, at this time. 32 

B. Exhibit 3: New Supervisor Information Sheet 33 

C. Exhibit 4: Form 1 34 

D. Exhibit 5: Review Sunshine Law & Supervisor Duties 35 

E. Exhibit 6: Consideration & Adoption of Resolution 2024-01, Designating Officers 36 



November 16, 2023 Seminole Palms CDD 
Special Meeting Page 2 of 3 

On a MOTION by Mr. Frye, SECONDED by Mr. Morrisette, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adopted 37 
Resolution 2024-01, Designating Officers, for the Seminole Palms Community Development District. 38 

FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Consent Agenda 39 

A. Exhibit 7: Consideration for Approval – The Minutes of the Board of Supervisors Regular Meeting40 
Held August 28, 202341 

B. Exhibit 8: Consideration for Acceptance – The August 2023 Unaudited Financial Report42 

C. Exhibit 9: Consideration for Acceptance – The September 2023 Unaudited Financial Report43 

On a MOTION by Mr. Morrisette, SECONDED by Mr. Meath, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board 44 
approved the Consent Agenda, for the Seminole Palms Community Development District. 45 

The Board moved back to Exhibit 6 under the Fourth Order of Business – Officer 46 
Appointment, at this time. 47 

SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Business Matters 48 

A. Exhibit 10: Consideration of Responses to Citation Blvd. Project/ Construction Engineering49 
Inspection Services – RFQ50 

Mr. Earlywine walked the Board through the RFQ process.51 

The final scores were as follows; RS&H at 332 and SAI at 299.52 

On a MOTION by Mr. Frye, SECONDED by Mr. Meath, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board ranked the 53 
responses in accordance with the scores and authorized staff to negotiate an agreement subject to final sign 54 
off by the Chair and in consultation with the city, for the Seminole Palms Community Development District. 55 

1. Exhibit 10: RS&H56 

2. Exhibit 11: SAI Consulting Engineers57 

SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Staff Reports 58 

A. District Manager59 

Mr. McInnes stated that he had nothing to report.60 

B. District Attorney61 

Mr. Earlywine left early.62 

C. District Engineer63 

The District Engineer was not present.64 

EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Supervisors Requests 65 

There being none, the next item followed. 66 

NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Audience Comments - New Business – (limited to 3 minutes per 67 
individual) 68 

There being none, the next item followed. 69 

TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS – Adjournment 70 

Mr. McInnes asked for final questions, comments, or corrections before requesting a motion to 71 
adjourn the meeting. There being none, Mr. Frye made a motion to adjourn the meeting. 72 



November 16, 2023 Seminole Palms CDD 
Special Meeting Page 3 of 3 

On a MOTION by Mr. Frye, SECONDED by Mr. Morrisette, WITH ALL IN FAVOR, the Board adjourned 73 
the meeting at 11:41 a.m., for the Seminole Palms Community Development District. 74 

*Each person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered75 
at the meeting is advised that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, 76 
including the testimony and evidence upon which such appeal is to be based. 77 

Meeting minutes were approved at a meeting by vote of the Board of Supervisors at a publicly noticed 78 
meeting held on January 22, 2024. 79 

80 

Signature Signature 

Printed Name Printed Name 

Title: □ Secretary □ Assistant Secretary Title: □ Chairman □ Vice Chairman 81 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 7 



Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Period Ending
October 31, 2023



General Debt Service Acq & Const
Fund Fund Fund Total

Assets:
     Cash 298$                         -$                              -$                              298$                         
     Investments:
          Revenue -                                 -$                              -$                              -                                 
          Reserve -                                 418,505.39$           -$                              418,505                   
          Interest -                                 114,061.09$           -$                              114,061                   
          Prepayment -                                 -$                              -$                              -                                 
          Sinking -                                 -$                              -$                              -                                 
          Cost of Issuance -                                 61.06$                     -$                              61                             
          Acquisition & Construction -                                 -$                              958,323.65$           958,324                   
     Accounts Reveivable 6,760                        -$                              423,105.64$           429,865                   
     Deposits -                                 -$                              -$                              -                                 
     Prepaid Items -                                 -$                              -$                              -                                 
Total Assets 7,057$                     532,627.54$           1,381,429.29$        1,921,114$             

Liabilities & Fund Balance

Liabilities
     Accounts Payable 8,199$                     -$                              412,587.80$           420,787$                 

Fund Balance
     Nonspendable:
          Prepaid & Deposits -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
     Restricted for:
          Debt Service -                                 532,628                   -                                 532,628                   
          Capital Projects -                                 -                                 968,841                   968,841                   
     Unassigned: (1,142)                      -                                 -                                 (1,142)                      

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance 7,057$                     532,627.54$           1,381,429.29$        1,921,114$             

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Balance Sheet
October 31, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Current Actual Variance % of
Budget Month Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution 234,140$               11,200$                 11,200$                 (222,940)$              4.78%
     Interest -                              -                              -                              
Total Revenue 234,140                 11,200                   11,200                   (222,940)               4.78%

Expenditures:

  Administrative 
       Supervisor Fees 2,400                     -                              -                              (2,400)                    0.00%
     District Management* 20,000                   6,000                     6,000                     (14,000)                  30.00%
     Administrative Services * 12,750                   -                              -                              (12,750)                  0.00%
     Accounting Services* 12,750                   -                              -                              (12,750)                  0.00%
     Assessment Administration* 2,500                     -                              -                              (2,500)                    0.00%
     Dissemination Agent 2,000                     -                              -                              (2,000)                    0.00%
     Legal 20,000                   -                              -                              (20,000)                  0.00%
     Engineering 30,000                   -                              -                              (30,000)                  0.00%
     Postage 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Printing & Binding 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Legal Advertising 6,500                     -                              -                              (6,500)                    0.00%
     Annual Special District Fee 175                        -                              -                              (175)                       0.00%
     General Liability & Pol Insurance 6,000                     5,200                     5,200                     (800)                       86.67%
     Bank Fees 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Websit Hosting, ADA, Maintenance 1,515                     1,515                     1,515                     -                              100.00%
     Admin Contingency 1,500                     -                              -                              (1,500)                    0.00%
  Total Administrative 119,590                 12,715                   12,715                   (106,875)               10.63%

  Physical Environment
       Landscape Maintenance 50,000                   -                              -                              (50,000)                  0.00%
       Pond Maintenance 18,000                   -                              -                              (18,000)                  0.00%
       Landscape Inspections 13,500                   -                              -                              (13,500)                  0.00%
       Field Contingency 20,000                   -                              -                              (20,000)                  0.00%
  Total Physical Environment 101,500                 -                             -                             (101,500)               0.00%

   Utilities
       Streetlights 13,050                   -                              -                              (13,050)                  0.00%
   Total Utilities 13,050                   -                             -                             (13,050)                  0.00%

Total Expenditures 234,140                 12,715                   12,715                   (221,425)               5.43%

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                             (1,515)                    (1,515)                    

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In
       Transfer Out
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) -                             

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,515)                    

Fund Balance - Beginning 373                        

Fund Balance - Ending (1,142)$                  

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

General Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ending 10/31/2023



FY2024
Adopted Actual Variance
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -)

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution -$                                -$                                -$                                
     Lot Closing -                                  -                                  
     Interest -                                  2,228                         2,228                         
Total Revenue -                                  2,228                         

Expenditures

     Interest Payments
          May 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
          November 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
     Principal Retirement
          May 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
Total Expenditures -                                  -                                  -                                  

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                                  2,228                         -                                  

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In -                                  
       Transfer Out (3,636)                        
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) (3,636)                        

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,408)                        

Fund Balance - Beginning 534,035                     

Fund Balance - Ending 532,628$                  

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Debt Service - Series 2023
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ending 10/31/2023



FY2024
Adopted Actual Variance
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -)

Revenue

     Developer Contributions -$                                93,453$                     93,453$                     
     Interest -                                  5,412                          5,412                          
Total Revenues -                                  98,865                       98,865                       

Expenditures
     Construction in Progress -                                  93,453                       93,453                       
Total Expenditures -                                  93,453                       93,453                       

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures 5,412                         

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In 3,636                          
       Transfer Out
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 3,636                         

Net Change in Fund Balance 9,048                          

Fund Balance - Beginning 959,793                     

Fund Balance - Ending 968,841$                   

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Acquisition & Construction
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period Ending 10/31/2023



Balance per Bank Statement 11,582.85$                                    

Plus: Outstanding Deposits -                                                  

Less: Outstanding Checks 11,285.00                                      

Adjusted Bank Balance 297.85$                                          

Beginning Bank Balance per Books 297.85$                                          

Cash Receipts 11,285.00                                      

Cash Disbursements 11,285.00                                      

Balance per Books 297.85$                                          

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Bank Reconciliation - General Fund
For the Period Ending 10/31/2023



Date  Number Name Memo Debit Credit Balance
9/30/2023 Balance Forward 297.85

10/25/2023 00005845 CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owner LLC 11,285.00 11,582.85

10/27/2023 1041 Egis Insurance Advisors, LLC General Liability Insurance FY 2024 5,200.00 6,382.85

10/27/2023 1042 Palm Coast Observer Legal Advertising 85.00 6,297.85

10/27/2023 1043 Vesta District Services 6,000.00 297.85

10/31/2023 11,285.00 11,285.00 297.85

Seminole Palms CDD
Check Register 

FY2024



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 8 



Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Period Ending
November 30, 2023



General Debt Service Acq & Const
Fund Fund Fund Total

Assets:
     Cash 298$                         -$                              240,294$                 240,591$                 
     Investments:
          Revenue -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
          Reserve -                                 420,319                   -                                 420,319                   
          Interest -                                 1,934                        -                                 1,934                        
          Prepayment -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
          Sinking -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
          Cost of Issuance -                                 61                             -                                 61                             
          Acquisition & Construction -                                 -                                 667,122                   667,122                   
     Accounts Reveivable 17,668                     -                                 1,062,351                1,080,019                
     Deposits -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
     Prepaid Items -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Total Assets 17,965$                   422,314$                 1,969,767$             2,410,046$             

Liabilities & Fund Balance

Liabilities
     Accounts Payable 8,199$                     -$                              1,840,336$             1,848,536$             
     Retainage Payable -                                 -                                 360,361                   360,361                   

Fund Balance
     Nonspendable:
          Prepaid & Deposits -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
     Restricted for:
          Debt Service -                                 422,314                   -                                 422,314                   
          Capital Projects -                                 -                                 (230,931)                  (230,931)                  
     Unassigned: 9,766                        -                                 -                                 9,766                        

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance 17,965$                   422,314$                 1,969,767$             2,410,046$             

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Balance Sheet
November 30, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Current Actual Variance % of
Budget Month Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution 234,140$               10,908$                 22,108$                 (212,032)$              9.44%
     Interest -                              -                              -                              
Total Revenue 234,140                 10,908                   22,108                   (212,032)               9.44%

Expenditures:

  Administrative 
       Supervisor Fees 2,400                     -                              -                              (2,400)                    0.00%
     District Management* 20,000                   -                              6,000                     (14,000)                  30.00%
     Administrative Services * 12,750                   -                              -                              (12,750)                  0.00%
     Accounting Services* 12,750                   -                              -                              (12,750)                  0.00%
     Assessment Administration* 2,500                     -                              -                              (2,500)                    0.00%
     Dissemination Agent 2,000                     -                              -                              (2,000)                    0.00%
     Legal 20,000                   -                              -                              (20,000)                  0.00%
     Engineering 30,000                   -                              -                              (30,000)                  0.00%
     Postage 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Printing & Binding 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Legal Advertising 6,500                     -                              -                              (6,500)                    0.00%
     Annual Special District Fee 175                        -                              -                              (175)                       0.00%
     General Liability & Pol Insurance 6,000                     -                              5,200                     (800)                       86.67%
     Bank Fees 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Websit Hosting, ADA, Maintenance 1,515                     -                              1,515                     -                              100.00%
     Admin Contingency 1,500                     -                              -                              (1,500)                    0.00%
  Total Administrative 119,590                 -                             12,715                   (106,875)               10.63%

  Physical Environment
       Landscape Maintenance 50,000                   -                              -                              (50,000)                  0.00%
       Pond Maintenance 18,000                   -                              -                              (18,000)                  0.00%
       Landscape Inspections 13,500                   -                              -                              (13,500)                  0.00%
       Field Contingency 20,000                   -                              -                              (20,000)                  0.00%
  Total Physical Environment 101,500                 -                             -                             (101,500)               0.00%

   Utilities
       Streetlights 13,050                   -                              -                              (13,050)                  0.00%
   Total Utilities 13,050                   -                             -                             (13,050)                  0.00%

Total Expenditures 234,140                 -                             12,715                   (221,425)               5.43%

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                             10,908                   9,393                     

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In
       Transfer Out
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) -                             

Net Change in Fund Balance 9,393                     

Fund Balance - Beginning 373                        

Fund Balance - Ending 9,766$                   

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

General Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period of October 1, 2023 to November 30, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Actual Variance
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -)

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution -$                                -$                                -$                                
     Lot Closing -                                  -                                  
     Interest -                                  4,534                         4,534                         
Total Revenue -                                  4,534                         

Expenditures

     Interest Payments
          May 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
          November 1, 2023 -                                  112,620                     112,620                     
     Principal Retirement
          May 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
Total Expenditures -                                  112,620                     112,620                     

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                                  (108,085)                   (112,620)                   

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In -                                  
       Transfer Out (3,636)                        
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) (3,636)                        

Net Change in Fund Balance (111,721)                   

Fund Balance - Beginning 534,035                     

Fund Balance - Ending 422,314$                  

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Debt Service - Series 2023
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period of October 1, 2023 to November 30, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Actual Variance
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -)

Revenue

     Developer Contributions -$                                2,232,926$               2,232,926$               
     Interest -                                  9,618                          9,618                          
Total Revenues -                                  2,242,544                  2,242,544                  

Expenditures
     Construction in Progress -                                  3,436,904                  3,436,904                  
Total Expenditures -                                  3,436,904                  3,436,904                  

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures (1,194,360)                

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In 3,636                          
       Transfer Out
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 3,636                         

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,190,724)                

Fund Balance - Beginning 959,793                     

Fund Balance - Ending (230,931)$                 

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Acquisition & Construction
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period of October 1, 2023 to November 30, 2023



Balance per Bank Statement 11,582.85$                                    

Plus: Outstanding Deposits -                                                  

Less: Outstanding Checks 11,285.00                                      

Adjusted Bank Balance 297.85$                                          

Beginning Bank Balance per Books 297.85$                                          

Cash Receipts 11,285.00                                      

Cash Disbursements 11,285.00                                      

Balance per Books 297.85$                                          

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Bank Reconciliation - General Fund
For the Period Ending 11/30/2023



Date  Number Name Memo Debit Credit Balance
9/30/2023 Balance Forward 297.85

10/25/2023 00005845 CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owner LLC 11,285.00 11,582.85

10/27/2023 1041 Egis Insurance Advisors, LLC General Liability Insurance FY 2024 5,200.00 6,382.85

10/27/2023 1042 Palm Coast Observer Legal Advertising 85.00 6,297.85

10/27/2023 1043 Vesta District Services 6,000.00 297.85

10/31/2023 11,285.00 11,285.00 297.85
11/30/2023 0 0 297.85

Seminole Palms CDD
Check Register 

FY2024



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 9 



Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Period Ending
December 31, 2023



General Debt Service Acq & Const
Fund Fund Fund Total

Assets:
     Cash 298$                         -$                              -$                              298$                         
     Investments:
          Revenue -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
          Reserve -                                 422,077                   -                                 422,077                   
          Interest -                                 1,942                        -                                 1,942                        
          Prepayment -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
          Sinking -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
          Cost of Issuance -                                 62                             -                                 62                             
          Acquisition & Construction -                                 -                                 669,922                   669,922                   
     Accounts Reveivable 23,580                     -                                 1,335,426                1,359,006                
     Deposits -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
     Prepaid Items -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
Total Assets 23,878$                   424,081$                 2,005,348$             2,453,306$             

Liabilities & Fund Balance

Liabilities
     Accounts Payable 8,199$                     -$                              2,222,976$             2,231,176$             
     Retainage Payable -                                 -                                 360,361                   360,361                   

Fund Balance
     Nonspendable:
          Prepaid & Deposits -                                 -                                 -                                 -                                 
     Restricted for:
          Debt Service -                                 424,081                   -                                 424,081                   
          Capital Projects -                                 -                                 (577,989)                  (577,989)                  
     Unassigned: 15,678                     -                                 -                                 15,678                     

Total Liabilities & Fund Balance 23,878$                   424,081$                 2,005,348$             2,453,306$             

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Balance Sheet
December 31, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Current Actual Variance % of
Budget Month Year-to-Date (+ / -) Budget

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution 234,140$               10,908$                 28,020$                 (206,120)$              11.97%
     Interest -                              -                              -                              
Total Revenue 234,140                 10,908                   28,020                   (206,120)               11.97%

Expenditures:

  Administrative 
       Supervisor Fees 2,400                     -                              -                              (2,400)                    0.00%
     District Management* 20,000                   -                              6,000                     (14,000)                  30.00%
     Administrative Services * 12,750                   -                              -                              (12,750)                  0.00%
     Accounting Services* 12,750                   -                              -                              (12,750)                  0.00%
     Assessment Administration* 2,500                     -                              -                              (2,500)                    0.00%
     Dissemination Agent 2,000                     -                              -                              (2,000)                    0.00%
     Legal 20,000                   -                              -                              (20,000)                  0.00%
     Engineering 30,000                   -                              -                              (30,000)                  0.00%
     Postage 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Printing & Binding 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Legal Advertising 6,500                     -                              -                              (6,500)                    0.00%
     Annual Special District Fee 175                        -                              -                              (175)                       0.00%
     General Liability & Pol Insurance 6,000                     -                              5,200                     (800)                       86.67%
     Bank Fees 500                        -                              -                              (500)                       0.00%
     Websit Hosting, ADA, Maintenance 1,515                     -                              1,515                     -                              100.00%
     Admin Contingency 1,500                     -                              -                              (1,500)                    0.00%
  Total Administrative 119,590                 -                             12,715                   (106,875)               10.63%

  Physical Environment
       Landscape Maintenance 50,000                   -                              -                              (50,000)                  0.00%
       Pond Maintenance 18,000                   -                              -                              (18,000)                  0.00%
       Landscape Inspections 13,500                   -                              -                              (13,500)                  0.00%
       Field Contingency 20,000                   -                              -                              (20,000)                  0.00%
  Total Physical Environment 101,500                 -                             -                             (101,500)               0.00%

   Utilities
       Streetlights 13,050                   -                              -                              (13,050)                  0.00%
   Total Utilities 13,050                   -                             -                             (13,050)                  0.00%

Total Expenditures 234,140                 -                             12,715                   (221,425)               5.43%

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                             10,908                   15,305                   

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In
       Transfer Out
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) -                             

Net Change in Fund Balance 15,305                   

Fund Balance - Beginning 373                        

Fund Balance - Ending 15,678$                 

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

General Fund
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period of October 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Actual Variance
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -)

Revenue

     Landowner Contribution -$                                -$                                -$                                
     Lot Closing -                                  -                                  
     Interest -                                  6,301                         6,301                         
Total Revenue -                                  6,301                         

Expenditures

     Interest Payments
          May 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
          November 1, 2023 -                                  112,620                     112,620                     
     Principal Retirement
          May 1, 2024 -                                  -                                  -                                  
Total Expenditures -                                  112,620                     112,620                     

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures -                                  (106,318)                   (112,620)                   

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In -                                  
       Transfer Out (3,636)                        
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) (3,636)                        

Net Change in Fund Balance (109,955)                   

Fund Balance - Beginning 534,035                     

Fund Balance - Ending 424,081$                  

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Debt Service - Series 2023
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period of October 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023



FY2024
Adopted Actual Variance
Budget Year-to-Date (+ / -)

Revenue

     Developer Contributions -$                                2,506,001$               2,506,001$               
     Interest -                                  12,418                       12,418                       
Total Revenues -                                  2,518,419                  2,518,419                  

Expenditures
     Construction in Progress -                                  4,059,837                  4,059,837                  
Total Expenditures -                                  4,059,837                  4,059,837                  

Excess of Revenue Over (Under) Expenditures (1,541,419)                

Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 
       Transfer In 3,636                          
       Transfer Out
Total Other Financing Sources and (Uses) 3,636                         

Net Change in Fund Balance (1,537,782)                

Fund Balance - Beginning 959,793                     

Fund Balance - Ending (577,989)$                 

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Acquisition & Construction
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance

For the Period of October 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023



Balance per Bank Statement 297.85$                                          

Plus: Outstanding Deposits -                                                  

Less: Outstanding Checks -                                                  

Adjusted Bank Balance 297.85$                                          

Beginning Bank Balance per Books 297.85$                                          

Cash Receipts -                                                  

Cash Disbursements -                                                  

Balance per Books 297.85$                                          

Seminole Palms
Community Development District

Bank Reconciliation - General Fund
For the Period Ending 11/30/2023



Date  Number Name Memo Debit Credit Balance
9/30/2023 Balance Forward 297.85

10/25/2023 00005845 CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owner LLC 11,285.00 11,582.85

10/27/2023 1041 Egis Insurance Advisors, LLC General Liability Insurance FY 2024 5,200.00 6,382.85

10/27/2023 1042 Palm Coast Observer Legal Advertising 85.00 6,297.85

10/27/2023 1043 Vesta District Services 6,000.00 297.85

10/31/2023 11,285.00  11,285.00  297.85     

11/30/2023 -              -              297.85     

12/31/2023 -              -              297.85     

Seminole Palms CDD
Check Register 

FY2024



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 10 



4th Dec.



























11/27/2023

Brown & Brown of Florida, Inc.

10151 Deerwood Park Blvd

Bldg 100, Ste 100

Jacksonville FL 32256

Lori Duvall CIC

(904) 565-1952 (904) 565-2440

Lori.Duvall@bbrown.com

RS&H, Inc

10748 Deerwood Pk Blvd S

Jacksonville FL 32256

Zurich American Insurance Company 16535

American Guarantee and Liability Insurance Company 26247

Travelers Property Casualty Company of America 25674

Continental Insurance Company 35289

23.24

A

Blkt AI - Prim & Non Contrib

Blkt WOS Y Y GLO1466409-01 06/28/2023 06/28/2024

2,000,000

300,000

10,000

2,000,000

4,000,000

4,000,000

A

Blkt AI Blkt WOS

Y Y BAP1469564-01 06/28/2023 06/28/2024

2,000,000

PIP-Basic 10,000

10,000

see attached 06/28/2023 06/28/2024

29,000,000

29,000,000

B N Y WC0411471-01 06/28/2023 06/28/2024
1,000,000

1,000,000

1,000,000

Project Name: Seminole Palms CDD - Agreement for Engineering Inspection Services

The Seminole Palms Community Development District and the District’s officers, supervisors, agents, staff, and representatives, as well as the City of Palm
Coast, and its City Council, agents, staff and representatives, and CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owner, LLC is included as additional insured on a primary and
noncontributory basis with respect to the General Liability and Auto policy when required by written contract. Waiver of subrogation in favor of Seminole
Palms Community Development District; City of Palm Coast; CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owner, LLC is included with respect to the General Liability, Auto,
and Workers' Compensation coverage when required by written contract. 30 day notice of cancellation provided per policy provisions.

Seminole Palms Community Development District

Vesta District Services

250 International Pkwy,Ste 208

Lake Mary FL 32746

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY



REYNOLDS, SMITH AND HILLS ARCHITECTS-ENGINEERS PLAN

REYNOLDS, SMITH AND HILLS CS, INCORPORATED

Reynolds, Smith and Hills, Inc.

RS&H ALABAMA, INC.

RS&H ARCHITECT AND ENGINEER, P.C.

RS&H ARCHITECTS-ENGINEERS-PLANNERS, INC.

RS&H CALIFORNIA, INC.

RS&H COMMERCIAL REALTY, INC.

RS&H IDAHO, P.C.

RS&H ILLINOIS, INC.

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

RS&H IOWA, P.C.

RS&H MARYLAND, INC.

RS&H MASSACHUSETTS, INC.

RS&H MISSISSIPPI, P.C.

RS&H MONTANA, P.C.

RS&H NEVADA, INC.

RS&H OHIO, INC.

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

RS&H MICHIGAN, INC.

Additional Named Insured

RS&H OREGON, ARCHITECTS-ENGINEERS-PLANNERS, P.C.

RS&H PENNSYLVANIA, INC.

TSIOUVARAS SIMMONS HOLDERNESS, INC.

RS&H Arkansas Inc

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insured

Additional Named Insureds

Other Named Insureds

OFAPPINF (02/2007) COPYRIGHT 2007, AMS SERVICES INC



RS&H, IncBrown & Brown of Florida, Inc.

25 Certificate of Liability Insurance: Notes

Umbrella - Total Limit $29,000,000
Primary $9M  Policy #AUC-1469558-01  American Guarantee and Liability Insurance Company
$10M XS $9M  Policy #EX-6T35064A-23-NF  Travelers Property Casualty Company of America
$10M XS $19M  Policy #7039681430 Continental Insurance Company

ACORD 101 (2008/01)

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

©  2008 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

THIS ADDITIONAL REMARKS FORM IS A SCHEDULE TO ACORD FORM,

FORM NUMBER: FORM TITLE:

ADDITIONAL REMARKS

ADDITIONAL REMARKS SCHEDULE Page of

AGENCY CUSTOMER ID:

LOC #:

AGENCY

CARRIER NAIC CODE

POLICY NUMBER

NAMED INSURED

EFFECTIVE DATE:



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANYP ROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 11 



















  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 12 

































  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 13 





85-8018629966C-2



EXHIBIT A 
VENDOR PROPOSAL



Quote #: Date: 12/20/2022

Project:

Engineer:

Bid Date: Rev Date 5/2/2023

Location:

Company:

Contact:

Phone/Email:

Unit Price Line Total

1 EA $5,889 $5,889

1 EA $6,389 $6,389

2 EA $1,492 $2,984

5 EA $1,635 $8,175

1 EA $2,525 $2,525

2 EA $2,666 $5,332

4 EA $3,142 $12,568

1 EA $2,712 $2,712

1 EA $3,442 $3,442

1 EA $3,977 $3,977

1 EA $6,909 $6,909

2 EA $3,636 $7,272

9 EA $3,496 $31,464

3 EA $4,674 $14,022

1 EA $2,455 $2,455

1 EA $506 $506

8 EA $869 $6,952

7 EA $1,228 $8,596

$0

10 EA $13,230 $132,300

11 EA $11,119 $122,309

$386,778

24" Dia Grade Rings @ $60/ea Tax 0.0% -$                 

32" Dia Grade Rings @ $75/ea Total $386,778.00

Curb Inlet Grade Rings @ $130/ea FOB Jobsite     Unloaded By Others

Lead Time

Terms

Quoted By:

Quote Accepted By: _________________________________

Date: ____________________

8'-10' As Above. (166, 167, 189, 190, 197, 198, 199, 200, 201)

0'-4' J-6 Curb Inlet, (3.5'x10'ID), w/5130-6310 Frame & Grate. (48+00 Lt) Too 

Shallow for Precast Throat.

8'-10' As Above. (205)

4'-6' As Above. (BU5, BU6, BU14, 209)

0'-4' D Inlet w/6626 Traffic Steel Grate, B/C. (191, 206)

0'-4' C Inlet w/6212 Traffic Iron Grate, B/C. (170, 171)

4'-6' As Above. (48+00 Rt) Too Shallow for Precast Throat.

4'-6' As Above. (BU15, 91, 92, 172, 173)

4'-6' E Inlet w/6290 Traffic Iron Grate, B/C. (BU1)

6'-8' Storm Manhole w/655-U R/C. (94, 196)

4'-6' E Control Structure w/6290 Traffic Iron Grate, 1/8" Aluminum Skimmer, B/C. 

(CS-JKD)

Qu
al

ifi
ca

tio
ns

    
 

(G
ra

de
 R

in
gs

 N
ot

 
In

cl
ud

ed
)

Subtotal

NET 30

Raw Water Main ARV Manhole, (4'x4'ID); w/8"Base Slab, 8"Walls, 8" Top Slab, 

Ram-Nek, EW-1 In & Out, & AHD484 Galvanized Traffic Hatch. Occassional Traffic 

Only.

10'-12' As Above. (202, 203, 204)

Force Main ARV Manhole, (4'x4'ID); w/8"Base Slab, 8"Walls, 8" Top Slab, Ram-

Nek, Spectrashield On Int., EW-1 On Ext., & AHD484 Galvanized Traffic Hatch. 

Occassional Traffic Only.

4'-6' C Control Structure w/6212 Traffic Iron Grate, 1/8" Aluminum Skimmer, B/C. 

(CS-0)

6'-8' As Above. (CS-MN)

24"x38" Headwall. (42+50)

15"/18" MES, 4:1 Slope. (MES210)

24" MES, 4:1 Slope. (MES45, MES67, & 6 ea at 48+00)

30" MES, 4:1 Slope. (MES7, MES8, MES9, MES10, MES19, MES52, MES53)

TBD

Chip@American-PS.com

**Quote valid for 30 days**

Chip McGehee / American Precast Structures, LLC

Any product not shipped within 6 months of submital will be 

subject to price escalation and Storage Fees.

Quantity Description

Rev 3 PURCHASE PROPOSAL

Seminole Palms CDD10483 GENERAL AVE.

JACKSONVILLE, FL 32220

904.467.7700/904.337.1967F

Q22-1830

12/22/2022

Citation Blvd

Kimley-Horn

Flagler



TERMS AND CONDITIONS (Are effective upon start of project)        Latest Revision Date January 24, 2023

DELIVERY: Delivery will be made to the jobsite using a common carrier of American Precast Structures, LLC (APS) choosing. Contractor must 
provide adequate roads for freight carrier. Unless otherwise noted, freight has been quoted for a single delivery. "Short Loads" will incur an 
additional freight charge to be determined at time of delivery. Multiple stage deliveries may be available, at APS discretion. If a multi-stage 
delivery is requested/provided, additional costs will apply. The customer will be prepared to receive material upon delivery at address provided. 
If the customer is unable to receive delivery, the customer is responsible for all additional storage and/or re-consignment charges. Equipment 
may be required for offloading. APS Bill of Lading will be accepted as proof that material was shipped in satisfactory condit ion. If damage or loss 
occurred to material during shipping, damage or loss MUST be noted on a delivery ticket. Full inspection of material must take place no later 
than 24 hrs after receipt of material and any concealed damage or loss must be reported within this 24 hr time period. APS agrees to perform 
due diligence in prosecuting damage or loss claims against the delivering carrier, to the best of their ability. The customer understands that their 
cooperation will be required, and agrees to offer their unconditional assistance. 

PRODUCT SPECIFICATIONS: This order will be supplied per information provided by requesting party, FDOT and/or ASTM specifications. It 
remains the EOR and purchaser’s responsibility to confirm compliance with construction documents.  Grade rings are not included within the 
unit prices unless specifically indicated within the items description.

PURCHASE ORDERS: We are an off-site supplier. Vendor applicable purchase orders will be executed upon submission and review and shall be 
considered secondary to the terms put forth in this document. Purchase orders with subcontractor specific contract language will not be 
accepted. 

WARRANTY: APS warranties purchased items for a period of one (1) year from the Date of Substantial Completion. This warranty does not apply 
to vandalism, abuse, or abnormal use.  Warranty claims not accompanied by signed letter of explanation and photographs will be considered 
invalid. APS will repair or replace defective item(s) at their sole discretion. Customer agrees to make minor repairs and alterations to structures 
without recourse to APS. We do not accept responsibility for installation and inappropriate handling of the materials delivered. Any installation 
errors voids any and all warranties, expressed or implied, except warranty of title.

SHOP DRAWINGS/ SPECIFICATION SHEETS: APS shop drawings and specification sheets bear nominal dimensions and are subject to minor
revisions without notice. 

DESIGN LOAD: Unless otherwise noted, all precast structures are designed for H20 or HL93 loadings as applicable. Final design and grate loadings 
are as specified on submittal drawings.  Special or modified structures are to be designed by CES (or equal) for a fee and who's design shall be 
accepted by contractor/EOR/owner. 

PAYMENT TERMS: Terms of purchase shall be balance net 30. Retention/Holdback will not be tolerated. In cases where retention is held, the 
amount will be treated as a past due amount subject to penalties and collection efforts outlined below. Interest on amounts which remain due 
past the allowable 30 days will accrue at a rate of 1 1/2% per month. Customer will be held liable for all account collection expenses, including 
reasonable attorney's fees and collection service fees. If litigation were needed, all transactions would occur in Duval County, Florida. Credit card 
payments are accepted within 30 days of delivery date without penalty for established accounts.  Credit card payments 31 days and later are 
subject to 3% convenience fee applied to any amount processed.  All non-established accounts are required to pay the 3% credit card 
convenience fee.  Any product not delivered after six months from manufacture date will be charged storage fees up to the ful l cost of structure. 
Any structure and it's accessories not received will be charged full price plus any restocking/return/disposal fees.
PRICE INCREASES:  Quote is valid for 30 days from date of issue (not bid date).  Quote will be subject to confirmation after 30 days. Price 
increase(s) may be assessed on any product not shipped within six months of submittal date. Additionally, we reserve the right to pass along 
significant price increases to the contractor immediately upon receipt of such.  Contractor will be responsible any price increases incurred. 
RETURNS:  Returns of new or like new material will be considered on a case by case basis subject to management approval.  No custom made 
precast structures will be considered returnable. Items that are returnable will be subject to a 25% restocking fee.

CHARGE BACK POLICY: Customer further agrees that no unilateral charge back measures will be employed to rectify a dispute of any kind with 
APS. If customer contends that some charge back is due, written notice of the request to withhold payment will be submitted for APS review and 
approval. Unilateral charge back amounts will be treated as unpaid payments, and the amount will be treated as a past due amount subject to 
penalties and collection efforts outlined above.

CHANGES: Changes to the order, following execution of this agreement, will be accepted. Written notification of the change is required. APS
reserves the right to charge cancellation or modification fees up to and including the full unit value of all items affected and if any shipping costs 



 

EXHIBIT B 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
1. PRICE. The Price set forth above includes all Goods, insurance, warranties and other materials or services (including 

without limitation all packing, loading or freight) necessary to produce and deliver the Goods. 
2. SCHEDULE. Time is of the essence with respect to this Order, and all Goods shall be produced and delivered within the times 

set forth in the Schedule. Owner may cancel this Order or any part thereof or reject delivery of Goods if such delivery or 
performance is not in material accordance with the specifications of this Order, including the Schedule. 

3. DELIVERY AND INSPECTION. 
a. All shipments of Goods are to be made, with all shipping costs prepaid by Seller (e.g., insurance, packing, loading, 

freight, etc.), to the receiving point specified above. Title, and risk of loss, shall pass to Owner at the time such Goods 
are delivered at the Project site and accepted by Owner or Owner’s contractor, provided however that Owner shall 
have a reasonable opportunity to inspect such Goods prior to acceptance. 

b. All Goods are subject to inspection and approval by Owner at a reasonable time post-delivery. Owner may return Goods 
not meeting specifications (including over-shipments) at the Seller’s expense and risk. Owner will notify Seller of failure. 
Return authorizations for Goods not received within 30 days will deem such Goods as donations to Owner. 

4. TERMS OF PAYMENT. Seller’s Invoice (“Invoice”) must be submitted before payment will be made by Owner pursuant to this 
Order. Owner shall make payment within 30 days of receipt of a proper invoice, and pursuant to the Local Government 
Prompt Payment Act, Sections 218.70 et seq., Florida Statutes (2021). Any indebtedness of Seller to Owner may, at Owner’s 
option, be credited against amounts owing by Owner hereunder. 

5. WARRANTY. Seller shall take all necessary steps to assign any manufacturer’s warranties to the Owner. Seller warrants that 
the title to Goods conveyed shall be good, that the transfer of the Goods shall be rightful, and that the Goods shall be free 
from any security interest, lien or encumbrance. Seller further warrants that the Goods are free of any rightful claim of 
infringement, and shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Indemnitees (defined below) against any such claim. 
Further, the Goods shall be new, shall be free from defects, shall be of merchantable quality, and shall be fit for the Owner’s 
uses. Seller agrees, without prejudice to any other rights Owner may have, to replace or otherwise remedy any defective 
Goods without further cost to Owner or, at Owner’s option, to reimburse Owner for its cost of replacing defective 
Goods. All Goods are subject to inspection by Owner before, upon, and within a reasonable time after delivery. Goods shall 
not be replaced without Owner’s prior written instructions. Any acceptance by Owner shall not prevent Owner from later 
rejecting non-conforming Goods. The warranty provided herein shall survive the completion or termination of this Order 
and is in addition to any warranties provided by law. 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. Seller agrees that at all times it will comply with all applicable federal, state, municipal and local 
laws, orders and regulations. 

7. INDEMNITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, and in addition to any other obligations of Seller under the Order or 
otherwise, Seller shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend Owner, CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owners, LLC, the City of Palm 
Coast, Florida, and their respective officers, directors, Supervisors, Board members, employees, staff, managers, 
representatives, successors, and assigns of each and any of all of the foregoing entities and individuals (together, 
“Indemnitees”) from all liabilities, damages, losses and costs, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees, to 
the extent caused in whole or in part by the negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Seller, or 
any subcontractor, any supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and arising 
out of or incidental to the performance of this Order. The Seller shall ensure that any and all subcontractors include this 
express provision for the benefit of the Indemnitees. The parties agree that this paragraph is fully enforceable pursuant to 
Florida law. In the event that this section is determined to be unenforceable, this paragraph shall be reformed to give the 
paragraph the maximum effect allowed by Florida law and for the benefit of the Indemnitees. The provisions of this section 
shall survive the completion or earlier termination of this Order, and are not intended to limit any of the other rights and/or 
remedies provided to the Owner hereunder. 

8. INSURANCE. At all times during the term of this Order agreement, Seller, at its sole cost and expense, shall maintain 
insurance coverages of the types and amounts set forth below: 
a. Commercial general liability insurance with minimum limits of liability not less than $1,000,000. Such insurance shall 

include coverage for contractual liability. 
b. Workers’ Compensation Insurance covering all employees of Seller in statutory amounts, and employer's liability 

insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. 
c. Comprehensive automobile liability insurance covering all automobiles used by Seller, with limits of liability of not less 

than $1,000,000 each occurrence combined single limit bodily injury and property damage. 
9. DEFAULT. Upon any material default by Seller hereunder, Owner may, in addition to any other remedies available to 

Owner at law or in equity, cancel this Order without penalty or liability by written notice to Seller. 
10. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. Nothing herein shall be construed to be a waiver of the Owner’s limit of liability contained in 

section 768.28, Florida Statutes or other statute or law. 



11. WAIVER.   Any failure of Owner to enforce at any time, or for any period of time, any of the provisions of this Order shall not 
constitute a waiver of such provisions or a waiver of Owner’s right to enforce each and every provision. 

12. MODIFICATIONS. This Order supersedes all prior discussions, agreements and understandings between the parties and 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the transaction herein contemplated. Changes, 
modifications, waivers, additions or amendments to the terms and conditions of this Order shall be binding on Owner only 
if such changes, modifications, waivers, additions or amendments are in writing and signed by a duly authorized 
representative of Owner. 

13. APPLICABLE LAW. The validity, interpretation, and performance of this Order shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Florida, in force at the date of this Order. Where not modified by the terms herein, the provisions of Florida’s enactment 
of Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code shall apply to this transaction. 

14. MECHANIC’S LIENS. Notwithstanding that Owner is a local unit of special purpose government and not subject to the lien 
provisions of Chapter 713, Florida Statutes, Seller agrees to keep the District’s property free of all liens, including equitable 
liens, claims or encumbrances (collectively, “Liens”) arising out of the delivery of any Goods by Seller, and shall furnish Owner 
with appropriate lien waivers from all potential claimants upon request of Owner. If any Liens are filed, Owner may without 
waiving its rights based on such breach by Seller or releasing Seller from any obligations hereunder, pay or satisfy the same 
and in such event the sums so paid by Owner shall be due and payable by Seller immediately and without notice or demand, 
with interest from the date paid by Owner through the date paid by Seller, at the highest rate permitted by law. 

15. PERMITS AND LICENSES. Before commencing performance hereunder, Seller shall obtain all permits, approvals, certificates 
and licenses necessary for the proper performance of this Order and pay all fees and charges therefore. The originals of all 
such documents shall be delivered to Owner upon receipt by Seller. 

16. PARTIAL INVALIDITY.   If in any instance any provision of this Order shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable under 
any applicable law, such provision shall not apply in such instance, but the remaining provisions shall be given effect in 
accordance with their terms. 

17. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING. This Order shall not be assigned or transferred by Seller without prior written 
approval by Owner, and any attempted assignment or transfer without such consent shall be void. 

18. RELATIONSHIP. The relationship between Owner and Seller shall be that of independent contractor, and Seller, its agents 
and employees, shall under no circumstances be deemed employees, agents or representatives of Owner. 

19. NOTICES. Any notice, approval or other communication required hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed given 
if delivered by hand or mailed by registered mail or certified mail addressed to the parties hereto as indicated on page 1. 

20. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES. Seller certifies, by acceptance of this purchase order, that neither it nor its principals is presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
transaction per the provisions of section 287.133(2)(a), Florida Statutes. 

21. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. Supplier certifies, by acceptance of this purchase order, that neither it nor any of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, members, or agents is on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan 
List or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, created pursuant to section 
215.473, Florida Statutes, and in the event such status changes, Seller shall immediately notify Owner. 

22. TERMINATION. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Owner shall have the right, at its sole election, to terminate 
this Order for any cause whatsoever upon the delivery of written notice to Seller. Upon such termination, Seller shall have 
no remedy against Owner, other than for payment of Goods already produced pursuant to specific written direction by 
Owner pursuant to Section 2 above, subject to any offsets or claims that Owner may have. 

23. PUBLIC RECORDS. Seller acknowledges that this Agreement and all the documents pertaining thereto may be public records 
and subject to the provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. 

24. CONFLICTS. To the extent of any conflict between this Terms and Conditions document (Exhibit B) and the Purchase Order, 
or Vendor Proposal (Exhibit A), these Terms and Conditions (Exhibit B) shall control.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, the entire contract between the parties shall consist of the Purchase Order, these Terms and 
Conditions (Exhibit B), and the Vendor Proposal (Exhibit A), with the exception that only the terms within the Vendor 
Proposal (Exhibit A) that set the price, schedule and quantity / type of materials shall apply and all other terms shall be 
deemed rejected, and, in an abundance of caution, no terms of any Seller’s Credit Application or other document shall be 
deemed to be a binding agreement between the parties.    

25. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS.  CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owners, LLC and the City of Palm Coast, Florida shall be third party 
beneficiaries of this Agreement, with the right to enforce the terms of this Agreement. 



CERTIFICATE OF ENTITLEMENT 

 
The undersigned authorized representative of the Seminole Palms Community Development District (hereinafter 
"Governmental Entity"), Florida Consumer's Certificate of Exemption Number _____________  , affirms 
that the tangible personal property purchased pursuant to a Purchase Order from American Precast Structures will 
be incorporated into or become a part of a public facility as part of a public works contract pursuant to that certain 
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Contractor, dated February 6, 2023 with Pipeline Constructors, 
Inc. (Contractor) for the construction of public infrastructure associated with the Citation Boulevard Extension 
Project. 

 
Governmental Entity affirms that the purchase of the tangible personal property contained in the attached Purchase 
Order meets the following exemption requirements contained in section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, and Rule 12A- 
1.094, Florida Administrative Code: 

 
You must initial each of the following requirements. 

   1. The attached Purchase Order is issued directly to the vendor supplying the tangible personal property the 
Contractor will use in the identified public works. 

   2. The vendor's invoice will be issued directly to Governmental Entity. 

   3. Payment of the vendor's invoice will be made directly by Governmental Entity to the vendor from public 
funds. 

    4. Governmental Entity will take title to the tangible personal property from the vendor at the time of 
purchase or of delivery by the vendor. 

   5. Governmental Entity assumes the risk of damage or loss at the time of purchase or delivery by the vendor. 

 
Governmental Entity affirms that if the tangible personal property identified in the attached Purchase Order does 
not qualify for the exemption provided in section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, and Rule 12A-1.094, Florida 
Administrative Code, Governmental Entity will be subject to the tax, interest, and penalties due on the tangible 
personal property purchased. If the Florida Department of Revenue determines that the tangible personal property 
purchased tax-exempt by issuing this Certificate does not qualify for the exemption, Governmental Entity will be 
liable for any tax, penalty, and interest determined to be due. 

 
I understand that if I fraudulently issue this certificate to evade the payment of sales tax I will be liable for payment 
of the sales tax plus a penalty of 200% of the tax and may be subject to conviction of a third degree felony. Under 
the penalties of perjury, I declare that I have read the foregoing Certificate and the facts stated in it are true. 

 
 

Signature of Authorized Representative Title 
 
 

Purchaser's Name (Print or Type) Date 

 
Federal Employer Identification Number:    
Telephone Number:    

 

You must attach a copy of the Purchase Order to this Certificate of Entitlement. Do not send to the Florida 
Department of Revenue. This Certificate of Entitlement must be retained in the vendor's and the contractor's 
books and records. This form supplements and supersedes (to the extent of any conflict) any prior certificates 
addressing the same purchase. 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 14 





85-8018629966C-2
555,415.60























  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 15 



































  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 16 





85-8018629966C-2



EXHIBIT A 

 

Vendor’s Proposal 



Quote #: Date: 10/4/2022
Project:

Engineer:
Bid Date: Rev Date 5/16/2023
Location:

Company:

Contact:

Phone/Email:

Unit Price Line Total

2 EA $2,694 $5,388

6 EA $3,033 $18,198

7 EA $3,951 $27,657

10 EA $4,551 $45,510

7 EA $5,033 $35,231

1 EA $5,807 $5,807

3 EA $6,239 $18,717

2 EA $6,912 $13,824

1 EA $4,685 $4,685

1 EA $13,170 $13,170

1 EA $67,941 $67,941

114 EA $60 $6,840

$0

35 EA $2,234 $78,190

5 EA $2,978 $14,890

1 EA $4,126 $4,126

1 EA $5,180 $5,180

1 EA $2,780 $2,780

1 EA $3,149 $3,149

1 EA $5,074 $5,074

2 EA $5,278 $10,556

1 EA $4,273 $4,273

$0

7 EA $3,827 $26,789

3 EA $5,922 $17,766

1 EA $5,884 $5,884

1 EA $5,261 $5,261

1 EA $5,688 $5,688

22-24' Lift Station (120" dia): 12" Base Slab w/ 18" Ext, 12" Wall, 12" Top Slab, 

RamNek, Joint Tape, EW-1 Out, Spectrashield Lined Int, APD 48"X48" Hatch                                          

HL = 24 Tons   

10'-12' as above. (103)

0'-4' D Inlet w/6626 Traffic Steel Grate, B/C. (191)

4'-6' as above. (207)

0-4' SSMH (48" dia): 5" Wall, 6" Base Ext, Boots, Invert, RamNek, Joint Tape, EW-1 

In and Out, 227-AS-ORS R&C (93,98)  

10-12', as above (81,82,83,105,106,107,108)

14-16', as above (110,111,112)

12-14', as above (109)

6-8', as above (76,77,78,84,85,87,88)

4-6', as above (86,94,95,96,97,99)

8-10', as above (79,80,89,90,91,92,101,102,103,104)

6'-8' D Control Structure w/6626 Traffic Steel Grate, B/C. No Skimmer. (BU3, BU4, 

BU7, BU8, BU11, BU12, BU13)

4-6' Control Type "D" Inlet w/ 6626 T Steel Grate, 1/8"Alum Skim, B&C. (CS-E, CS-

GH, CS-I)                   

6-8', as above (CS-L)

4-6' Control Type "E" Inlet w/ 6290 T Iron Grate, 1/8"Alum Skim, B&C (CS-P)

4-6' Control Type "H" Inlet w/ 6292 T Iron Grate, 1/8"Alum Skim, B&C (CS-WET9)

Rev 3 PURCHASE PROPOSAL

Seminole Palms CDD10483 GENERAL AVE.

JACKSONVILLE, FL 32220

904.467.7700/904.337.1967F

Q22-1603

10/4/2022

Seminole Palms Phase 1
Kimley-Horn

Flagler

6'-8' E Inlet w/6290 Traffic Iron Grate, B/C. (95)

Quantity Description

Control Structures

24" Dia Grade Rings (3 per structure at your request)

16-18', as above (113,114)

8-10', as above (129,137)

4-6' Type "C" Inlet w/ 6212 T Iron Grate, B&C (96, 98, 99, 100, 101, 104, 108, 110, 

112, 113, 114, 116, 117, 118, 122, 126, 127, 130, 131, 141, 148, 149, 150, 151, 

152, 153, 154, 155, 157, 159, 160, 161, 162, 165, 175)   
6-8', as above (123, 140, 146, 192,193)

8-10', as above (145)

6-8' Type "D" Inlet w/ 6626 T Steel Grate, B&C (124)

18-20' Receiving SSMH (48" dia): 5" Wall, 6" Base Ext, Boots, Invert, RamNek, 

Joint Tape, EW-1 Out, Spectrashield Lined Int, 227-AS-ORS R&C (54)  

8-10' SSMH (48" dia): 5" Wall, 6" Base Ext, Boots, Invert, RamNek, Joint Tape, EW-

1 In and Out, Drop Pad, 227-AS-ORS R&C (100)  



1 EA $3,481 $3,481

11 EA $2,408 $26,488

9 EA $3,372 $30,348

5 EA $4,831 $24,155

1 EA $5,803 $5,803

6 EA $1,577 $9,462

2 EA $1,240 $2,480

3 EA $526 $1,578

69 EA $60 $4,140

$0

Rev 3 $0

2 EA $3,660 $7,320

1 EA $3,940 $3,940

2 EA $1,586 $3,172

$0

$0

$0

$574,941

24" Dia Grade Rings @ $60/ea Tax 0.0% -$                 
32" Dia Grade Rings @ $75/ea Total $574,941.00

Curb Inlet Grade Rings @ $130/ea FOB Jobsite     Unloaded By Others

Lead Time

Terms

Quoted By:

Quote Accepted By: _________________________________

Date: ____________________

Qu
al

ifi
ca

tio
ns

    
 

(G
ra

de
 R

in
gs

 N
ot

 

In
cl

ud
ed

)

Subtotal

NET 30

24" Dia Grade Rings (3 per structure at your request)

36" MES, 4:1 Slope (22, 23, 28, 32, 40, 41)

15"/18 MES, 4:1 Slope (47, 75, 208)

30" MES, 4:1 Slope (35, 36)

6'-8' D Inlet w/6626 Traffic Steel Grate, B/C. (93, 188)

8'-10' As Above. (125)

36" MES, 4:1 Slope (17, 18)

4-6' Type "E" Inlet w/ 6290 T Iron Grate, B&C (BU2)   "Bubble Up"

4-6' MH w/ 170-E R&C (102, 109, 115, 128, 133, 147, 156, 158, 163, 164, 205)

6-8', as above (97, 119, 120, 121, 132, 134, 135, 144, 203)

8-10', as above (136, 138, 139, 142, 143)

TBD

Bobby@American-PS.com

**Quote valid for 30 days**

Bobby Smith / American Precast Structures, LLC

Any product not shipped within 6 months of submital 

will be subject to price escalation.

10'-12' as above. (105)



TERMS AND CONDITIONS (Are effective upon start of project)        Latest Revision Date January 24, 2023

DELIVERY: Delivery will be made to the jobsite using a common carrier of American Precast Structures, LLC (APS) choosing. Contractor must 
provide adequate roads for freight carrier. Unless otherwise noted, freight has been quoted for a single delivery. "Short Loads" will incur an 
additional freight charge to be determined at time of delivery. Multiple stage deliveries may be available, at APS discretion. If a multi-stage 
delivery is requested/provided, additional costs will apply. The customer will be prepared to receive material upon delivery at address provided. 
If the customer is unable to receive delivery, the customer is responsible for all additional storage and/or re-consignment charges. Equipment 
may be required for offloading. APS Bill of Lading will be accepted as proof that material was shipped in satisfactory condition. If damage or loss 
occurred to material during shipping, damage or loss MUST be noted on a delivery ticket. Full inspection of material must take place no later 
than 24 hrs after receipt of material and any concealed damage or loss must be reported within this 24 hr time period. APS agrees to perform 
due diligence in prosecuting damage or loss claims against the delivering carrier, to the best of their ability. The customer understands that 
their cooperation will be required, and agrees to offer their unconditional assistance. 

PRODUCT SPECIFICATIONS: This order will be supplied per information provided by requesting party, FDOT and/or ASTM specifications. It 
remains the EOR and purchaser’s responsibility to confirm compliance with construction documents.  Grade rings are not included within the 
unit prices unless specifically indicated within the items description.

PURCHASE ORDERS: We are an off-site supplier. Vendor applicable purchase orders will be executed upon submission and review and shall be 
considered secondary to the terms put forth in this document. Purchase orders with subcontractor specific contract language will not be 
accepted. 

WARRANTY: APS warranties purchased items for a period of one (1) year from the Date of Substantial Completion. This warranty does not apply 
to vandalism, abuse, or abnormal use.  Warranty claims not accompanied by signed letter of explanation and photographs will be considered 
invalid. APS will repair or replace defective item(s) at their sole discretion. Customer agrees to make minor repairs and alterations to structures 
without recourse to APS. We do not accept responsibility for installation and inappropriate handling of the materials delivered. Any installation 
errors voids any and all warranties, expressed or implied, except warranty of title.

SHOP DRAWINGS/ SPECIFICATION SHEETS: APS shop drawings and specification sheets bear nominal dimensions and are subject to minor
revisions without notice. 

DESIGN LOAD: Unless otherwise noted, all precast structures are designed for H20 or HL93 loadings as applicable. Final design and grate 
loadings are as specified on submittal drawings.  Special or modified structures are to be designed by CES (or equal) for a fee and who's  design 
shall be accepted by contractor/EOR/owner. 

PAYMENT TERMS: Terms of purchase shall be balance net 30. Retention/Holdback will not be tolerated. In cases where retention is held, the 
amount will be treated as a past due amount subject to penalties and collection efforts outlined below. Interest on amounts which remain due 
past the allowable 30 days will accrue at a rate of 1 1/2% per month. Customer will be held liable for all account collection expenses, including 
reasonable attorney's fees and collection service fees. If litigation were needed, all transactions would occur in Duval County, Florida. Credit 
card payments are accepted within 30 days of delivery date without penalty for established accounts.  Credit card payments 31 days and later 
are subject to 3% convenience fee applied to any amount processed.  All non-established accounts are required to pay the 3% credit card 
convenience fee.  Any product not delivered after six months from manufacture date will be charged storage fees up to the full cost of 
structure. Any structure and it's accessories not received will be charged full price plus any restocking/return/disposal fees.
PRICE INCREASES:  Quote is valid for 30 days from date of issue (not bid date).  Quote will be subject to confirmation after 30 days. Price 
increase(s) may be assessed on any product not shipped within six months of submittal date. Additionally, we reserve the right to pass along 
significant price increases to the contractor immediately upon receipt of such.  Contractor will be responsible any price increases incurred. 
RETURNS:  Returns of new or like new material will be considered on a case by case basis subject to management approval.  No custom made 
precast structures will be considered returnable. Items that are returnable will be subject to a 25% restocking fee.

CHARGE BACK POLICY: Customer further agrees that no unilateral charge back measures will be employed to rectify a dispute of any kind with 
APS. If customer contends that some charge back is due, written notice of the request to withhold payment will be submitted for APS review 
and approval. Unilateral charge back amounts will be treated as unpaid payments, and the amount will be treated as a past due amount subject 
to penalties and collection efforts outlined above.

CHANGES: Changes to the order, following execution of this agreement, will be accepted. Written notification of the change is required. APS
reserves the right to charge cancellation or modification fees up to and including the full unit value of all items affected and if any shipping costs 
were incurred.



 

EXHIBIT B 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
1. PRICE. The Price set forth above includes all Goods, insurance, warranties and other materials or services (including 

without limitation all packing, loading or freight) necessary to produce and deliver the Goods. 
2. SCHEDULE. Time is of the essence with respect to this Order, and all Goods shall be produced and delivered within the times 

set forth in the Schedule. Owner may cancel this Order or any part thereof or reject delivery of Goods if such delivery or 
performance is not in material accordance with the specifications of this Order, including the Schedule. 

3. DELIVERY AND INSPECTION. 
a. All shipments of Goods are to be made, with all shipping costs prepaid by Seller (e.g., insurance, packing, loading, 

freight, etc.), to the receiving point specified above. Title, and risk of loss, shall pass to Owner at the time such Goods 
are delivered at the Project site and accepted by Owner or Owner’s contractor, provided however that Owner shall 
have a reasonable opportunity to inspect such Goods prior to acceptance. 

b. All Goods are subject to inspection and approval by Owner at a reasonable time post-delivery. Owner may return Goods 
not meeting specifications (including over-shipments) at the Seller’s expense and risk. Owner will notify Seller of failure. 
Return authorizations for Goods not received within 30 days will deem such Goods as donations to Owner. 

4. TERMS OF PAYMENT. Seller’s Invoice (“Invoice”) must be submitted before payment will be made by Owner pursuant to this 
Order. Owner shall make payment within 30 days of receipt of a proper invoice, and pursuant to the Local Government 
Prompt Payment Act, Sections 218.70 et seq., Florida Statutes (2021). Any indebtedness of Seller to Owner may, at Owner’s 
option, be credited against amounts owing by Owner hereunder. 

5. WARRANTY. Seller shall take all necessary steps to assign any manufacturer’s warranties to the Owner. Seller warrants that 
the title to Goods conveyed shall be good, that the transfer of the Goods shall be rightful, and that the Goods shall be free 
from any security interest, lien or encumbrance. Seller further warrants that the Goods are free of any rightful claim of 
infringement, and shall indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the Indemnitees (defined below) against any such claim. 
Further, the Goods shall be new, shall be free from defects, shall be of merchantable quality, and shall be fit for the Owner’s 
uses. Seller agrees, without prejudice to any other rights Owner may have, to replace or otherwise remedy any defective 
Goods without further cost to Owner or, at Owner’s option, to reimburse Owner for its cost of replacing defective 
Goods. All Goods are subject to inspection by Owner before, upon, and within a reasonable time after delivery. Goods shall 
not be replaced without Owner’s prior written instructions. Any acceptance by Owner shall not prevent Owner from later 
rejecting non-conforming Goods. The warranty provided herein shall survive the completion or termination of this Order 
and is in addition to any warranties provided by law. 

6. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. Seller agrees that at all times it will comply with all applicable federal, state, municipal and local 
laws, orders and regulations. 

7. INDEMNITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, and in addition to any other obligations of Seller under the Order or 
otherwise, Seller shall indemnify, hold harmless, and defend Owner, and CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owners, LLC and their 
respective officers, directors, Supervisors, Board members, employees, staff, managers, representatives, successors, and 
assigns of each and any of all of the foregoing entities and individuals (together, “Indemnitees”) from all liabilities, damages, 
losses and costs, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees, to the extent caused in whole or in part by the 
negligence, recklessness or intentional wrongful misconduct of the Seller, or any subcontractor, any supplier, or any 
individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them, and arising out of or incidental to the performance 
of this Order. The Seller shall ensure that any and all subcontractors include this express provision for the benefit of the 
Indemnitees. The parties agree that this paragraph is fully enforceable pursuant to Florida law. In the event that this section 
is determined to be unenforceable, this paragraph shall be reformed to give the paragraph the maximum effect allowed by 
Florida law and for the benefit of the Indemnitees. The provisions of this section shall survive the completion or earlier 
termination of this Order, and are not intended to limit any of the other rights and/or remedies provided to the Owner 
hereunder. 

8. INSURANCE. At all times during the term of this Order agreement, Seller, at its sole cost and expense, shall maintain 
insurance coverages of the types and amounts set forth below: 
a. Commercial general liability insurance with minimum limits of liability not less than $1,000,000. Such insurance shall 

include coverage for contractual liability. 
b. Workers’ Compensation Insurance covering all employees of Seller in statutory amounts, and employer's liability 

insurance with limits of not less than $1,000,000 each accident. 
c. Comprehensive automobile liability insurance covering all automobiles used by Seller, with limits of liability of not less 

than $1,000,000 each occurrence combined single limit bodily injury and property damage. 
9. DEFAULT. Upon any material default by Seller hereunder, Owner may, in addition to any other remedies available to 

Owner at law or in equity, cancel this Order without penalty or liability by written notice to Seller. 
10. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY. Nothing herein shall be construed to be a waiver of the Owner’s limit of liability contained in 

section 768.28, Florida Statutes or other statute or law. 



11. WAIVER.   Any failure of Owner to enforce at any time, or for any period of time, any of the provisions of this Order shall not 
constitute a waiver of such provisions or a waiver of Owner’s right to enforce each and every provision. 

12. MODIFICATIONS. This Order supersedes all prior discussions, agreements and understandings between the parties and 
constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the transaction herein contemplated. Changes, 
modifications, waivers, additions or amendments to the terms and conditions of this Order shall be binding on Owner only 
if such changes, modifications, waivers, additions or amendments are in writing and signed by a duly authorized 
representative of Owner. 

13. APPLICABLE LAW. The validity, interpretation, and performance of this Order shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Florida, in force at the date of this Order. Where not modified by the terms herein, the provisions of Florida’s enactment 
of Article 2 of the Uniform Commercial Code shall apply to this transaction. 

14. MECHANIC’S LIENS. Notwithstanding that Owner is a local unit of special purpose government and not subject to the lien 
provisions of Chapter 713, Florida Statutes, Seller agrees to keep the District’s property free of all liens, including equitable 
liens, claims or encumbrances (collectively, “Liens”) arising out of the delivery of any Goods by Seller, and shall furnish Owner 
with appropriate lien waivers from all potential claimants upon request of Owner. If any Liens are filed, Owner may without 
waiving its rights based on such breach by Seller or releasing Seller from any obligations hereunder, pay or satisfy the same 
and in such event the sums so paid by Owner shall be due and payable by Seller immediately and without notice or demand, 
with interest from the date paid by Owner through the date paid by Seller, at the highest rate permitted by law. 

15. PERMITS AND LICENSES. Before commencing performance hereunder, Seller shall obtain all permits, approvals, certificates 
and licenses necessary for the proper performance of this Order and pay all fees and charges therefore. The originals of all 
such documents shall be delivered to Owner upon receipt by Seller. 

16. PARTIAL INVALIDITY.   If in any instance any provision of this Order shall be determined to be invalid or unenforceable under 
any applicable law, such provision shall not apply in such instance, but the remaining provisions shall be given effect in 
accordance with their terms. 

17. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBCONTRACTING. This Order shall not be assigned or transferred by Seller without prior written 
approval by Owner, and any attempted assignment or transfer without such consent shall be void. 

18. RELATIONSHIP. The relationship between Owner and Seller shall be that of independent contractor, and Seller, its agents 
and employees, shall under no circumstances be deemed employees, agents or representatives of Owner. 

19. NOTICES. Any notice, approval or other communication required hereunder must be in writing and shall be deemed given 
if delivered by hand or mailed by registered mail or certified mail addressed to the parties hereto as indicated on page 1. 

20. PUBLIC ENTITY CRIMES. Seller certifies, by acceptance of this purchase order, that neither it nor its principals is presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
transaction per the provisions of section 287.133(2)(a), Florida Statutes. 

21. SCRUTINIZED COMPANIES. Supplier certifies, by acceptance of this purchase order, that neither it nor any of its officers, 
directors, executives, partners, shareholders, members, or agents is on the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in Sudan 
List or the Scrutinized Companies with Activities in the Iran Petroleum Energy Sector List, created pursuant to section 
215.473, Florida Statutes, and in the event such status changes, Seller shall immediately notify Owner. 

22. TERMINATION. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Owner shall have the right, at its sole election, to terminate 
this Order for any cause whatsoever upon the delivery of written notice to Seller. Upon such termination, Seller shall have 
no remedy against Owner, other than for payment of Goods already produced pursuant to specific written direction by 
Owner pursuant to Section 2 above, subject to any offsets or claims that Owner may have. 

23. PUBLIC RECORDS. Seller acknowledges that this Agreement and all the documents pertaining thereto may be public records 
and subject to the provisions of Chapter 119, Florida Statutes. 

24. CONFLICTS. To the extent of any conflict between this Terms and Conditions document (Exhibit B) and the Purchase Order, 
or Vendor Proposal (Exhibit A), these Terms and Conditions (Exhibit B) shall control.  Notwithstanding anything in this 
Agreement to the contrary, the entire contract between the parties shall consist of the Purchase Order, these Terms and 
Conditions (Exhibit B), and the Vendor Proposal (Exhibit A), with the exception that only the terms within the Vendor 
Proposal (Exhibit A) that set the price, schedule and quantity / type of materials shall apply and all other terms shall be 
deemed rejected, and, in an abundance of caution, no terms of any Seller’s Credit Application or other document shall be 
deemed to be a binding agreement between the parties.    

25. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS.  CRE-KL Seminole Woods Owners, LLC shall be a third party beneficiary of this Agreement, with the 
right to enforce the terms of this Agreement. 



CERTIFICATE OF ENTITLEMENT 
 

The undersigned authorized representative of the Seminole Palms Community Development District (hereinafter 
"Governmental Entity"), Florida Consumer's Certificate of Exemption Number _____________  , affirms 
that the tangible personal property purchased pursuant to a Purchase Order from ____________ will be 
incorporated into or become a part of a public facility as part of a public works contract pursuant to that certain 
Contractor Agreement, dated November 22, 2022 with Pipeline Constructors Inc. (Contractor) for the construction 
of public infrastructure associated with the Seminole Palms Project. 

 
Governmental Entity affirms that the purchase of the tangible personal property contained in the attached Purchase 
Order meets the following exemption requirements contained in section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, and Rule 12A- 
1.094, Florida Administrative Code: 

 
You must initial each of the following requirements. 

   1. The attached Purchase Order is issued directly to the vendor supplying the tangible personal property the 
Contractor will use in the identified public works. 

   2. The vendor's invoice will be issued directly to Governmental Entity. 

   3. Payment of the vendor's invoice will be made directly by Governmental Entity to the vendor from public 
funds. 

    4. Governmental Entity will take title to the tangible personal property from the vendor at the time of 
purchase or of delivery by the vendor. 

   5. Governmental Entity assumes the risk of damage or loss at the time of purchase or delivery by the vendor. 
 

Governmental Entity affirms that if the tangible personal property identified in the attached Purchase Order does 
not qualify for the exemption provided in section 212.08(6), Florida Statutes, and Rule 12A-1.094, Florida 
Administrative Code, Governmental Entity will be subject to the tax, interest, and penalties due on the tangible 
personal property purchased. If the Florida Department of Revenue determines that the tangible personal property 
purchased tax-exempt by issuing this Certificate does not qualify for the exemption, Governmental Entity will be 
liable for any tax, penalty, and interest determined to be due. 

 
I understand that if I fraudulently issue this certificate to evade the payment of sales tax I will be liable for payment 
of the sales tax plus a penalty of 200% of the tax and may be subject to conviction of a third degree felony. Under 
the penalties of perjury, I declare that I have read the foregoing Certificate and the facts stated in it are true. 

 
 

Signature of Authorized Representative Title 
 
 

Purchaser's Name (Print or Type) Date 
 

Federal Employer Identification Number:    
Telephone Number:    

 

You must attach a copy of the Purchase Order to this Certificate of Entitlement. Do not send to the Florida 
Department of Revenue. This Certificate of Entitlement must be retained in the vendor's and the contractor's 
books and records. This form supplements and supersedes (to the extent of any conflict) any prior certificates 
addressing the same purchase. 



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 17 





85-8018629966C-2
22,446.00























  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 18 











  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 19 





UOM Qty Unit Price Extension

ROUND PIPE
24" RCP CL3 LF 216.00 $58.90 $12,722.40
30" RCP CL3 LF 176.00 $90.25 $15,884.00

Net Price $28,606.40
END TREATMENTS
24"X38" MITERED END SECTION 4:1 EA 1.00 $1,125.00 $1,125.00

Net Price $1,125.00
 $29,731.40

Description

REQUIRE

Material to be used for drainage

1/2% per month (18% per annum).

attached terms and conditions are made a part thereof. This bid is contingent upon successful negotiations of the contract for this project, between County Materials 
Corporation and the General Contractor / Contractor / Subcontractor.

become binding upon Seller s delivery or commencement of delivery. Any additional terms and conditions proposed by Buyer, whether written or verbal, are rejected and shall 
be of no force or effect unless expressly consented to in writing by the Seller.

County Materials
__________________________________________

Rick Bolinger - Sales Representative
__________________________________________

Quotation
ASTATULA

25750 CR561
ASTATULA, FL 34705

Time: 12:00 AM 0Revision:Date: 11/30/2023 044-3493-23Project:

Bid To: Seminole Palms CDD C/O Pipeline

Contact: Seminole Palms CDD C/O Pipeline
Phone:
Email:

Project Name: Seminole Palms CDD

Project Address:
City/State/County: Florida, Flagler
Memo: ADDITIONAL PIPE 11-30-2023

Phone: (352)343-8488

Bid Date: 11/30/2023

Quoted By: Rick Bolinger Cell: (772)453-1103

rick.bolinger@countymaterials.comEmail:

Page 1 of 6



Subject to Attached Terms & Conditions
Signature by Buyer acknowledges acceptance of the terms and conditions attached.

Page 2 of 6



Page 3 of 6



Page 4 of 6



Page 5 of 6



Seller: County Materials Corporation

Print Name & Title:   Authorized Rep. For County Materials Corp.

Rick Bolinger SalesRep

Signature Date

Subject to Attached Terms & Conditions

Signature by Buyer acknowledges acceptance of the terms and conditions attached.

Buyer:

Print Name & Title:  Authorized Rep. For Buyer

Signature Date

11/30/2023

Seminole Palms CDD C/O Pipeline

Seminole Palms CDD C/O 
Pipeline

Page 6 of 6



  

 

 

 

EXHIBIT 20 



RESOLUTION 2024-03 
 

A RESOLUTION BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
SEMINOLE PALMS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DESIGNATING SIGNATORIES FOR THE DISTRICT’S 
OPERATING BANK ACCOUNT(S); AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Seminole Palms Community Development District (the “District”) is a 
local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida 
Statutes, being situated entirely within Flagler County, Florida;  
 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statues, the funds of the District shall be 
disbursed by the Treasurer and by other such person(s) as may be authorized by the Board; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Board has previously established a local operating bank account for the 

District; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Board has previously designated authorized signatories on the bank 

account; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Board desires to rescind and repeal the prior designation and designate 

new signatories on the account.  
 
NOW BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF 
THE SEMINOLE PALMS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT THAT:   
 
Section 1.  The Chair and Vice-Chair of the District’s Board of Supervisors, Scott Smith 

and Johanna Lee and Bridgett Alexander of DPFG Management and Consulting, LLC, are hereby 
designated as authorized signatories on the District’s operating bank account.   

 
Section 2. This Resolution shall take effect upon its passage and shall remain in effect 

unless rescinded or repealed. Further, upon its passage, any previously adopted resolution 
designating signatories on bank accounts for the District is rescinded and repealed. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 22nd day of January, 2024.  

 
ATTEST: 
   SEMINOLE PALMS COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 
 
________________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary/Assistant Secretary     Chair, Board of Supervisors 
 
 

 


	Agenda Pg. 1
	Exhibit 1
	Proof of Publication

	Exhibit 2
	Oath of Office

	Exhibit 3
	New Supervisor Information Sheet

	Exhibit 4
	Sunshine Law & Code of Ethics

	Exhibit 5
	Resolution 2024-02

	Exhibit 6
	Minutes

	Exhibit 7
	October 2023 UnauditedFinancial Statements

	Exhibit 8
	November 2023 UnauditedFinancial Statements

	Exhibit 9
	December 2023 UnauditedFinancial Statements

	Exhibit 10
	RS&H, Inc. CEI Services Agreement

	Exhibit 11
	Joint Maintenance Agreement

	Exhibit 12
	DPO – Fortiline

	Exhibit 13
	DPO – American Precast

	Exhibit 14
	DPO – County Materials


	Agenda Pg. 2
	Exhibit 15
	DPO – Fortiline

	Exhibit 16
	DPO – American Precast

	Exhibit 17
	DPO – County Materials

	Exhibit 18
	CO #1 – American Precast

	Exhibit 19
	CO #1 – County Materials

	Exhibit 20
	Resolution 2024-03



	rta: 


